DAC SOURCE BOOK ON CONCEPTS AND APPROACHES LINKED TO GENDER EQUALITY





Introduction

The DAC Expert Group on Women in Development, (renamed the DAC Working Party on Gender Equality in 1998) has drawn together a set of practical guidelines for advancing the goals identified by the OECD Development Assistance Committee¹ and by the Beijing Platform for Action (1995) with respect to gender equality and the empowerment of women. The DAC *Guidelines for Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment in Development Co-operation* (1998) draw on lessons of experience and incorporate illustrations of improved efficiency, effectiveness and coherence in development co-operation. In the course of preparing those guidelines, the authors developed a valuable set of definitions of key concepts and approaches which guide and deepen the reader's understanding of gender equality issues and how to address them. These have been compiled into the DAC Source Book on Concepts and Approaches Linked to Gender Equality.

There are two basic sections in the document. The first contains a number of discussions by topic (in alphabetical order). Each entry is divided into three sections:

Discussion:	A brief presentation of key issues, questions and themes.	
See also:	A list of other relevant topics in the source book.	
References:	A list of documents is included to encourage readers to make use of the growing literature coming from gender equality advocates, academics and development co-operation agencies themselves. We've restricted the list of references to include only those available from DAC members and published sources.	

The second section provides sample references by theme with no discussion.

Please note that this Source Book is not comprehensive, and the lists of references are merely indicative. Documents may have been produced that are not listed here.

^{1.} This publication is available at the following internet address: http://www.oecd.org/dac

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Introduction	1
SE(CTION I (DISCUSSION AND REFERENCES)	5
	Accountability	6
	Empowerment	9
	Evolution of the Thinking and Approaches on Equality Issues	
	Gender Equality and Culture	
	Gender Training	
	Institutional Analysis from a Gender Perspective	
	Mainstreaming as an Institutional Strategy	
	Mainstreaming Paragraph of the Beijing Platform for Action	
	Men	
	Monitoring and Evaluation	
	National Machinery for Women's Affairs	
	NGOs and Equality Issues	
	Participatory Approaches	
	Policy Dialogue	
	Policy "Evaporation" during the Planning and Implementation Cycle	
	Programme Assistance	
	Rationale Arguments	59
	Regional Programming in Support of Gender Equality Goals	
	Resistance	

SECTION II (REFERENCES ONLY)	
Agency Evaluations of WID Strategies/Policies	
Agriculture	
Best Practices: Development Co-operation and Gender Equality	
Conflict and Conflict Resolution	
Development Co-operation, Organisations and Gender Equality	
Economic Policy-Making	
Education	
Environmental Sustainability	
Gender Statistics	
Health	
Human Rights	
Social Development	
Participatory Development, Democracy and Good Governance	
UN Conferences	
Water Resources Management	
Women's Movement (International)	

SECTION I

DISCUSSION AND REFERENCES

Accountability

Discussion

Background

The slow implementation of gender equality policies has raised questions about why and how staff in development co-operation organisations can regard some policies as important and other policies as optional. This apparent "hierarchy of policies" has prompted analysts to call for stronger accountability structures to ensure that staff actually implement policy and carry through on commitments their government and agencies have made to women's equality.

Yet accountability is proving to be a complex and difficult concept. Although people generally agree on the need for accountability, it is often difficult to sort out precisely what that means in practice.

Issues

In the ongoing discussion of accountability several issues emerge. First there are issues relating to accountability within development co-operation organisations:

• Accountability is linked to the existence of institutional targets and objectives relating to gender equality. In order for staff to be held accountable for policy implementation, a clear plan with measurable objectives is essential. Without this type of plan, it is unclear what people are being held accountable for.

At least one organisation has experimented with including progress on equality issues in annual staff performance appraisals. In practice, however, the experiment did not live up to its expected potential as it was difficult to assess progress and give equality issues a high profile in the broad staff evaluation process where many other issues where in play.

• Leadership is a key factor in ensuring accountability. Numerous analysts point to the clear need for leadership within agencies on gender equality issues. If leadership is clearly disinterested in progress on equality issues, it is highly unlikely that policy will go beyond a rhetorical stage.

Yet defining what type of leadership is effective can be difficult. It is not enough for senior management to state that equality is an important issue for the agency. They must demonstrate that it is important through allocating resources, raising equality issues in other policy discussions and demanding progress from senior staff. According to Kardam (1995: 20), "leadership is a matter of entrepreneurship; it involves a combination of imagination in inventing institutional options and skill in brokering the interest of numerous actors to line up support for such options."

♦ Accountability on equality issues will be difficult to establish if accountability is weak throughout the organisation. It is unrealistic to expect staff to be "held accountable" for the implementation of a general equality policy, there are few other issues for which they are also accountable. There is hope that the movement toward "results" or performance-based management will assist in the process.

Second, there are issues relating to a broader discussion of accountability that asks who development co-operation agencies and other institutions are accountable to and why, to date, have they generally failed to be accountable to the needs and interests of women.

Kardam (1995) and Ford-Smith (1989) have raised the issue of uneven power between beneficiaries of development co-operation programmes and the agencies themselves. They point out that in many cases, accountability is not generally directed toward the beneficiaries, but rather to the donors and their domestic political masters. Kardam points out the agency staff are rarely rewarded for being responsive to local conditions. In another example, Ford-Smith points to a specific example of the consequences of this power relationship for the Jamaican women's theatre collective Sistren:

"Relations with international agencies helped us to survive a very difficult period. They helped us to expand and increase our contact with men and women in Jamaica and around the world. At the same time they had an enormous impact on both the kind of work we did and our own internal administration. Perhaps two of the most important aspects of what Sistren purported to be doing, namely providing a service for a constituency of Jamaican women and building a self-help organisation that would allow its members to improve their lives, were undermined by the structures and requirements of the relations with funders. The demands of the agencies withdrew energy from the group that could have been used in directly addressing the question of accountability both within Sistren and between Sistren and the women it served. It cushioned us from having to face the precariousness of our situation economically and the importance of defining and building our responsibility to our constituency through programming with clear and consistent goals. (68-9)"

In the long-term, accountability of state structures to women's demands and interests will only be ensured through a strong, independent women's movement that can hold elected politicians accountable through the ballot box and that can articulate clear policy options. Despite numerous gains in this area in the past two decades, it has been pointed out that to date, the formal political process has not always recognised or supported women's attempts to organise, articulate interests and advance new agendas. As Goetz (1995: 10) concludes: "what the unraveling of organisations shows is that there are many different points for positive interventions, but the social relations involved in public administration cannot be settled just by getting a structural blueprint right -- in the end, it is a matter of political struggle."

See Also

Empowerment Participatory approaches

References

Fierlbeck, Katherine (1995). "Getting representation right for women in development: accountability and the articulation of women's interests." *IDS Bulletin* 26(3): 23-30 (Special Issue: Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development).

Ford-Smith, Honor (1989). *Ring Ding in a Tight Corner: A Case Study of Funding and Organizational Democracy in Sistren*, 1977-1988. Toronto: Women's Program, ICAE.

Goetz, Anne Marie (1996). *Minimum-Optimum Scenarios: Institutional Strategies for donor accountability to women in the development process.* A study prepared for the Special Programme on Women and Development (DST/VR), Directorate General for International Co-operation, Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, November.

(1995). "Institutionalizing women's interests and accountability to women in development," *IDS Bulletin* 26(3): 1-10 (Special Issue: Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development).

Kardam, Nüket (1995). "Conditions of accountability for gender policy: the organisational, political and cognitive contexts." *IDS Bulletin* 26(3): 11-22 (Special Issue: Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development).

United Nations (1995). *Technical Assistance and Women: From Mainstreaming Toward Institutional Accountability*. Commission on the Status of Women, 39th Session. Document Number: E/CM.6/1995/6, prepared by Kathleen Staudt (19/12/1994).

Woroniuk, Beth; Helen Thomas and Johanna Schalkwyk (1996). Gender Equality Action Plans: A Think Piece. Stockholm: Sida.

Empowerment

Discussion

Background

The term empowerment is found throughout development co-operation policies, documents and information publications. Yet, definitions are rare, and indicators to measure progress toward empowerment even rarer.

Beijing Declaration

Women's empowerment and their full participation on the basis of equality in all spheres of society, including participation in the decision-making process and access to power, are fundamental for the achievement of equality, development and peace. (para 13)

Rather than attempt to develop the ultimate definition of empowerment that is agreeable to all and applicable in all situations, this note highlights aspects of the discussion on women's empowerment that are useful to those working in development co-operation.

Issues

- Empowerment is not something that can be done by outsiders "to" people. Development co-operation initiatives are overly ambitious and doomed to fail if they seek to "empower women." Instead, these programmes can help to create the conditions whereby women can become the agents of their own development and empowerment.
- A key aspect of empowerment is women's participation in formal political structures. This was recognised in one of the critical areas of concern in the Beijing *Platform for Action*, "women in power and decision-making". When they signed this document, governments agreed to :
 - take measures to ensure women's equal access to and full participation in power structures and decision-making; and
 - increase women's capacity to participate in decision-making and leadership.
- According to one definition of an empowerment approach, it "questions some of the fundamental assumptions concerning the interrelationship between power and development... it seeks to identify power less in terms of domination over others (with its implicit assumption that a gain for women implies a loss for men), and more in terms of the capacity of women to increase their own self-reliance and internal strength." (Moser, 1993:74). Other definitions of empowerment push further, arguing that empowerment for women implies the "radical alteration of the processes and structures which reproduce women's subordinate position as a gender." (Young, 1993).
- NGOs and women's organisations also assume a prominent place in many discussions of empowerment. Given the emphasis on women's own awareness, capacity development

and collective articulation of interests, NGOs appear to offer more potential to support this process than do state institutions. However, as Moser (1993) argues, NGOs and women's organisations too have their weaknesses and it is important to differentiate between different organisations and understand their strengths and limitations in this process.

• A useful concept introduced into the discussion of empowerment by Kate Young (1993:157) is that of transformatory potential.

The crucial element in transformatory thinking is the need to transform women's position in such a way that the advance will be sustained. Equally important is that women should themselves feel that they have been the agents of the transformation, that they have won this new space for action themselves. But it is also important that they realise that each step taken in the direction of gaining greater control over their lives, will throw up other needs, other contradictions to be resolved in turn...

The assumption behind transformatory potential is that the process of women working together and solving problems on a trial and error basis, of learning by doing and also of learning to identify allies and forging alliances when needed, will lead to empowerment, both collective and individual.

Although definitions some of empowerment tend to focus on strengthening women's economic independence (through increased income and greater individual selfreliance), a more useful approach appears to recognise the multiple roles and interests that women have and the interrelationships between them. Although there may be analytical gains to be made by dividing women's lives into different roles (for example: productive. reproductive and community managing - Moser, 1993), these pieces should always be put back together again to understand that women do not act and participate only as mothers or only as workers or only as activists mobilising to bring water infrastructure to their neighbourhood.

Women's empowerment can be viewed as a continuum of several interrelated and mutually reinforcing components:

- Awareness building about women's situation, discrimination, and rights and opportunities as a step towards gender quality. Collective awareness of building provides a sense of group identity and the power of working as a group.
- Capacity building and skills development, especially the ability to plan, make decisions, organise, manage and carry out activities, to deal with people and institutions in the world around them.
- Participation and greater control and decision-making power in the home, community and society.
- Action to bring about greater equality between men and women.

In short, empowerment is a process of awareness and capacity building leading to greater participation, to greater decision-making power and control, and to transformative action.

- Karl (1995: 14)

See Also

Men Participatory approaches Participatory development, democracy and good government Women's movement (international) (Section II)

References

Carr, Marilyn; Martha Chen and Renana Jhabvala (eds.) (1996). *Speaking Out: Women's Economic Empowerment in South Asia*. London: Intermediate Technology Publications Ltd. on behalf of Aga Khan Foundation Canada and the United Nations Development Fund (UNIFEM).

Karl, Marilee (1995). *Women and Empowerment: Participation and Decision-Making*. London: Zed Books and the United Nations Non-Governmental Liaison Service.

Moser, Carolyn O. N. (1993). Gender Planning and Development: Theory, Practice & Training. New York: Routledge.

Kabeer, Naila (1994). "Empowerment from below: learning from the grassroots," in Naila Kabeer, *Reversed Realities: Gender Hierarchies in Development Thought*. London: Verso.

Price, Janet (1992). "Who determines need? A case study of a women's organisation in North India." *IDS Bulletin* 23(1): 50-57 (Special Issue: Gender and Primary Health Care: Some Forward Looking Strategies).

Rowlands, Jo (1997). Questioning empowerment. Working with Women in Honduras. Oxford: Oxfam.

Wieringa, Saskia (1994). "Women's interests and empowerment: gender planning reconsidered." *Development and Change* 25:829-848.

Young, Kate (1993). Planning Development with Women: Making a World of Difference. London: Macmillan.

Evolution of the Thinking and Approaches on Equality Issues

Discussion

Evolution of thinking

The evolution of thinking on equality issues in development co-operation was summarised in the OECD Assessment of DAC Members' WID Policies and Programmes: Overall Report as follows:

The experience gained since DAC Members first began to address women's participation in development has resulted in considerable evolution in thinking about how to conceptualise the issue and what might be required to achieve real change in the position of women. Initially analyses focused on women and their relation to the economy and development processes, and initiatives focused on compensatory measures to enable women to participate more fully. Theoretical and empirical research resulted in the development of another analytical framework that focused not on women but on the processes and relations that recreate and reinforce inequalities between women and men. Biological differences between women and men were distinguished from gender differences, that is, the different social meaning given to being either a man or a women in a particular society. Emphasis was placed on the unequal gender relations that shape outcomes for both women and men. Questions were raised about the degree to which further integration into an unequal development process, without deeper questioning of the development agenda, would relieve the subordinate position of women. This resulted in increased emphasis on women's participation in *decision-making* and their *empowerment* to develop and pursue strategies to address their own situation and the direction of social change. (p. 29.)

It is now more widely recognised that:

- the problem is not women's integration in development, or their lack of skills, credit and resources, but the *social processes and institutions* that result in inequalities between women and men to the disadvantage of women;
- inequalities between women and men are not only a cost to women but to development as a whole, and thus must be conceived as societal and development issues rather than a "women's concern";
- there are political as well as technical aspects that must be taken into account in addressing inequalities: it is not only a matter of "adding women in" to existing processes and programmes, but of reshaping them to reflect the visions, interests and needs of women and to support gender equality.

Implications for approaches

Some of the implications of this evolution of thinking for approaches taken by development co-operation agencies are summarised below.

- Emphasis on reshaping the mainstream rather than adding activities at the margin. The mainstreaming strategy emphasized in the Beijing Platform for Action reflects a recognition that efforts to improve the situation of women through women-specific initiatives and women's components of larger projects meant that women's interests were not reflected in the overall objectives and activities of development initiatives. As a result, women continued to be bypassed in the allocation of most development resources and opportunities and initiatives had little impact on the structure of inequalities between women and men. Thus mainstreaming strategies direct attention at ensuring that mainstream activities are structured to provide an equitable distribution of opportunities and benefits to women and men, and to reduce gender disparities. Mainstreaming strategies also seek to ensure that the visions, interests and needs of women are reflected in the definition of development policies and strategies.
- Focus on equality as an objective rather than on women as a target group. Approaches that focused on women as a target group led to some innovative and catalytic initiatives. However, in other cases these focused on activities for women as an end in themselves and were not related to either the social context or broader development objectives. Many women-specific initiatives were criticised for marginalising women or relegating their participation to isolated activities. A shift in focus to equality as an objective promotes closer scrutiny of women-specific initiatives to assess whether they contribute to equality between women and men. It also provides a framework within which to identify initiatives targeted at men or at institutional change as a means to move toward equality between women and men. With equality as a development objective, all policies and initiatives must be scrutinised for their impacts on disparities between women and men in access to resources, opportunities and ability to shape their future.
- Focus on the broader policy and institutional context as well as project initiatives. Discussions of development co-operation efforts often note that the benefits or impacts of particular projects can be overshadowed by problems or changes in the broader policy or institutional environment. This is also the case with respect to equality concerns. For example, if macroeconomic strategies reduce the number of jobs and opportunities in sectors in which women predominate, this will have a much broader impact than any number of credit or income-generating projects. If national and local institutions lack the capacity to identify and address equality issues in developing policies and projects, action by development co-operation agencies within particular projects will remain isolated initiatives with limited long-term impact.
- ♦ Moving beyond responding to gender differences, and increasing attention to reducing gender disparities. Agencies have made major steps in identifying differences between women and men through various techniques for gender analysis. This has been an important step toward identifying strategies that take account of the activities of women and men respectively and provide opportunities and benefits to both. A further step that is now receiving more attention with the recognition of gender equality as a

strategic objective of development is the identification of opportunities to reduce gender inequalities and support progress toward more equal relations between women and men.

- More attention to women's organisations and networks, and the forces for change in partner countries. The views of women in the South have had a major impact on rethinking strategies for development and the situation of women. Women's organisations and networks are growing in number and increasingly effective in articulating the needs and interests of women. Development co-operation organisations can benefit from consultation with these organisations when undertaking analyses and dialogue on issues and problems to be addressed in country programmes and in programme formulation. Given the continued under-representation of women in decision-making institutions and processes in partner countries, women's organisations and networks can also benefit from support to further develop their opportunities and skills for research, lobbying, advocacy, and broader networking.
- ♦ More attention to men. Clearly women and men do not live in isolation from each other. Male and female gender identities, their activities and behaviour in the family and the public sphere, are highly interdependent. Equality strategies also need to consider the ways in which the gender identities of men affect women and the achievement of development goals. Efforts are also required to involve more men as partners and allies in formulating and pursuing strategies for more equal societies.

See also

Agency evaluations of WID strategies/policies (Section II) Empowerment Mainstreaming as an institutional strategy Men UN Conferences (Section II)

References

Goetz, Anne Marie (1994). "From feminist knowledge to data for development: the bureaucratic management of information on women and development." *IDS Bulletin* 25(2): 27-36.

Longwe, Sara (1990). "From Welfare to Empowerment: the Situation of Women in Development in Africa. A Post-UN Women's Decade Update and Future Directions". Women in International Development, Michigan State University, Working Paper # 204. Lycklama à Nijeholt (1992). *Women and the Meaning of Development: Approaches and Consequences*. Silver Jubilee Paper 7, Institute of Development Studies.

Razavi, Shahrashoub and Carol Miller (1995). *From WID to GAD: Conceptual Shifts in the Women and Development Discourse.* Geneva: United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD), Occasional Paper No. 1, Fourth World Conference on Women.

Young, Kate (1993). *Planning Development with Women: Making a World of Difference*. London: Macmillian.

Gender Equality and Culture

Discussion

Background

One of the primary arguments raised against working toward more equal gender relations is that this constitutes interference in the domestic culture of partner countries. Development co-operation agencies have tried to avoid the charge that they are "imposing western feminism." Although equality between women and men has been firmly recognised as a priority issue by the world's governments (as evidenced by the Beijing *Platform for Action*), concerns about cultural interference are still raised at different levels.

It is often interesting to ask who is raising this specific objection to gender equality and why they are framing the issue in this fashion. Why is this argument mobilised to defend unequal gender relations but not used to argue against other changes currently taking place?

Why is it that challenging gender inequalities is seen as tampering with traditions of culture, and thus taboo, while challenging inequalities in terms of wealth and class is not? - Mehta (1991)

Issues²

In responding to the assertion that support for efforts to achieve equality between women and men is culturally inappropriate, five principle counter-arguments can be mobilised:

- First, almost all development co-operation is about change of one sort or another: changing economic structures, changing farming practices, changing access to media, changing human rights practices. These all have an impact on culture.
- Second, development co-operation focuses on helping governments implement international commitments to gender equality they have already made (such as the Beijing *Platform for Action* and the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women CEDAW).
- Third, there are growing demands for change from women in developing countries. The last decade has seen an explosion of women's organisations and gender equality advocates. These women are articulating clear demands for change. It is no longer possible to argue that calls for equality come only from northern countries. Unfortunately, their voices are not always heard, by representatives of development co-operation agencies who do not seek these women out, or by the mainstream media of their own countries or by officials and politicians.

^{2.} This discussion is based on draft materials prepared for Sida's Gender Equality Unit (Draft Think Piece on Gender and Gender Methodologies) by Beth Woroniuk, Johanna Schalkwyk and Helen Thomas. (1997)

- ♦ Fourth, there are many influences on culture. With an increasingly global economy and the international flow of products, media images, and cultural images, almost all cultures are in a state of change. Images shaping changes in gender identities flow not just from development programmes but from other sources as well, such as imported soap operas, Hollywood movies, pop music, and Coca-Cola commercials. Cultural images are also manipulated by religious and political movements. Whose culture are people referring to? Who has defined these elements as the crucial elements to be protected?
- Finally, a basic principle of development co-operation strategies on gender equality is to broaden decision-making processes so that women, as well as men, have full input into the definition of what is important and what needs should have priority. All too often the "cultural argument" is mobilised by men (both northern and southern) who are opposed to that basic goal.

Some women choose to ignore gender injustice. For example, many Zimbabwean women will state that it is 'cultural' for women to be subordinate to men. What is 'cultural' about a woman earning all the food through her sweat in the fields, and preparing that food for her husband and children to sustain them when the man is drinking the day away? Is it 'cultural' to be beaten to pulp and protect the man who has done it? The questions can go on and on -- there is a vast world literature on what women suffer in the name of culture. Attitudes towards women as being inferior and lesser human beings at all levels, are reinforced directly or indirectly in many complex ways. People who oppress others tend to share a belief in the own 'natural' superiority; it is actually 'culture' which justifies this belief. Many men think because they are male they have the right to own women and oppress them in all kinds of ways -- from owning them as part of their estate, to battering and raping women to show their dominance and humiliate them. - Chitsike (1995:20-21)

See Also

Accountability Empowerment Men Resistance

References

Chitsike, Colleta (1995). "NGOs, gender, culture and multiculturalism - a Zimbabwean view" Gender and Development 3(1):19-24.

Hélie-Lucas, Marie Amée (1993). "Women Living Under Muslim Laws," in Joanna Kerr (ed.) Ours by Right: Women's Rights as Human Rights. Ottawa: North-South Institute and Zed Books.

Mehta, Mona (1991). "Gender, Development and Culture," in Tina Wallace (ed) with Candida March, *Changing Perceptions: Writings on Gender and Development*. Oxford: Oxfam.

Mukhopadhyay, Maitrayee (1995). "Gender relations, development practice and `culture'". *Gender and Development* (Oxfam) 3(1): 13-18.

Gender Training

Discussion

Background

Gender training has been used extensively by DAC Member agencies and by NGOs (from developed and developing countries), multilateral organisations, and women's machineries. To date, gender training has had multiple purposes:

- generate support for WID/gender policies;
- provide agency staff with a common framework and vocabulary to facilitate discussion and policy implementation;
- provide agency staff with specific skills to use in programme design and implementation.

Numerous training models (for example, Overholt *et al.*, 1985; Moser, 1993; Williams, 1994; and Parker, 1993) were developed. Agencies modified the basic frameworks and developed agency-specific case studies. Two international conferences were held to share experience and advances in gender training (Rao, et al. 1991 & 1994).

Issues

- It has been difficult to assess the effectiveness of gender training. Although it has been widely implemented, it has not been easy to correlate agency changes with training. Furthermore, it is also difficult to assess which type of training has been more effective.
- Agency-wide courses were an important first step in building support for gender equality goals. In many cases, what is now needed is more tailored capacity development that addresses specific themes or types of work directly relevant to the needs and functions of specific staff. For one specific experience on bringing together economic planners with gender specialists, see Pearson (1995).
- Many training models attempted to turn staff into "gender experts" in a short period of time. Yet experience has demonstrated that people do not acquire all the necessary skills in a short workshop and in fact, this type of focus may have contributed to an underestimation of the skills required to work specifically on equality issues.

There is a need to analyse what skills different staff require. Analysts have also argued that the different attitudes of staff to equality issues will influence how they act (or fail to act) to implement equality policies (Lotherington & Flemmen, 1991). Therefore, the effectiveness of one course offered to all staff members is highly questionable.

- Training is most effective when it is viewed as one component in an institutional strategy. Many of the obstacles facing programming officers when they attempt to integrate gender equality objectives into their projects -- such as a lack of support from senior management or agencies practices that make it difficult to innovate -- cannot be remedied by training.
- Consistent with a mainstreaming strategy, agencies could look to strengthen the gender analysis in other agency training courses. For example, courses on human rights could integrate women's rights as human rights throughout the training session. If this strategy is used, it is important to present the gender analysis as an integral feature of the overall analysis, not as a separate module.

See Also

Agency evaluations of WID strategies/policies (Section II) Mainstreaming as an institutional strategy

References

Anderson, Mary B (1991). *Does Gender Training Make A Difference: An Approach to Evaluating the Effectiveness of Gender Training*. A paper presented at the conference "Gender Training and Development Planning: Learning from the Experience" organised by the Population Council, USA and the Chr. Michelsen Institute, Norway, and held in Bergen, Norway, from 13-15th May.

Hannan-Andersson, Carolyn (Gender Office) (1991). *Experiences with Gender Training - How did it work and how was it used? Some experiences from the Swedish International Development Authority - SIDA, 1988 - 1991.* A paper presented at the conference "Gender Training and Development Planning: Learning from the Experience" organised by the Population Council, USA and the Chr. Michelsen Institute, Norway, and held in Bergen, Norway, from 13-15th May.

Kabeer, Naila (1992). *Triple Roles, Gender Roles, Social Relations: The Political Sub-Text of Gender Training.* Institute of Development Studies, Discussion Paper 313, Sussex: IDS.

Lotherington, Ann Therese & Anne Britt Flemmen (1991). "Negotiating Gender: the case of the International Labour Organization, ILO," in Kristi Anne Støle & Mariken Vaa (eds). *Gender and Change in Developing Countries*. Oslo: Norwegian University Press/Oxford University Press. pp. 273-307.

Moser, Caroline O.N. (1993). Gender Planning and Development: Theory, Practice and Training. London: Routledge.

Overholt, Catherine; Mary Anderson, Kathleen Cloud and James Austin (1985). *Gender Roles in Development Projects: A Case Book.* West Hartford, CN: Kumarian Press.

Parker, A. Rani (1993). Another Point of View: A Manual of Gender Analysis Training for Grassroots Workers. New York: UNIFEM. [Available from Women, Ink]

Pearson, Ruth (1995). "Bringing it all back home: Integrating Training for Gender Specialists and Economic Planners," *World Development* 23 (11): 1995-1999.

Rao, Aruna (1991). "Incorporating Gender Issues in Development Training," in Aruna Rao (ed). Women's Studies International: Nairobi and Beyond. New York: The Feminist Press, pp. 122 - 131.

______ et al. (1991). *Gender Training and Development Planning: Learning From Experience* (Conference Report - May 1991, Bergen, Norway - co-hosted by the Population Council and the Chr. Michelsen Institute).

_____, Marguérite Appel, Kirsten Moore, Hillary Sims Feldstein (1994). *Reflections and Learnings: Gender Trainers Workshop Report, Amsterdam June 1993*. Royal Tropical Institute Amsterdam, The Population Council, New York.

Williams, Suzanne with Janet Seed and Adelina Mwan (1994). *The Oxfam Gender Training Manual*. Oxford: Oxfam (UK and Ireland).[Available from Women, Ink]

Institutional Analysis from a Gender Perspective

Discussion

Issues

The capacity of institutions (ministries, parastatals, NGOs, etc.) to incorporate an equality perspective in their work is a fundamental cornerstone of a mainstreaming strategy. Development co-operation initiatives, however, have either overlooked the ability of institutions to work with a gender analysis or been limited to increasing the number of women in decision-making positions. Although institutional strengthening is now a primary objective of many development co-operation projects, strengthening capacity that supports equality objectives is rarely a priority.

In recent years, analysts have focused attention on trying to understand institutions and organisations from a gender perspective (for example, (1995a) and Goetz Calás and Smircich (1996)). They have raised questions about how gender relations influence the very constitution of institutions and how institutions continue to produce policies and programmes that fail to recognise the needs of women. The full implications of these explorations for development co-operation initiatives have yet to be fully drawn out.

Organizations can be gendered in terms of practical, physical arrangements, in terms of management styles, organizational ideologies, and the expression of power. In practical terms, they may have come to be gendered according to the degree to which the interests and characteristics of the individual agents and social groups who originally peopled these organizations reflect gendered physical and social needs and capabilities. Men's literal, physical monopoly of public organizational spaces means that everyday work patterns come to be structured around their physical needs and capabilities. In particular, their capacity to achieve relative liberation from child care and domestic responsibilities. - Goetz (1995:5)

There are two basic questions arising from a concern with equality that can be asked about institutions:

- Does the institution have the capacity to assess all their programmes, policies and regulations from a gender perspective? (In other words, do they assess the differential impact of policies on women and men and attempt to reduce gender inequalities)?
- What is the profile of women and men in decision-making positions? (Are there equal opportunities for women and men in terms of employment, training, promotion and benefits? Are there specific measures to promote women and increase their involvement at senior decision-making levels?)

Themes to Explore

In efforts to both understand the existing capacity of institutions to incorporate equality objectives into their work and to strengthen that capacity, the following issues are important.

- the institution's mandate and area of work: There is a need for clear and explicit links between the focus of the institution and the goal of equality between women and men. Many policy makers assume that their work is gender neutral and that it will have the same impact on all people. They do not see the overlap between their objectives (increasing crop yields, developing tax policy or building transportation infrastructure) and inequalities between women and men. People working in a specific institution need to be aware of how and why equality concerns are relevant in their area of specialisation.
- *organisational history and culture:* The informal and formal rules that guide the functioning of the institution are important. A policy that aims to change people's work priorities to incorporate equality considerations stands little chance of being effective if policy generally, is not respected. Factors that might increase the likelihood of the successful integration of equality considerations include:
 - flexibility and openness to new ideas in general;
 - willingness to change and incorporate input from diverse constituencies;
 - accountability structures within the institution to ensure that staff comply with policy directions;
 - recognition and value given the a wide-range of professional skills (for example, social analysis skills are present and seen as necessary -- as well as engineering or formal medical skills).
- *current personnel:* It is important to know at a general level who holds what position within the institution -- to both understand the current situation and facilitate changes. Are senior managers all of a similar age, background and perspective? What approach would be best to use to help them understand the equality issues relating to their work? Is there a potential pool of "innovators" who could champion efforts to raise the profile of equality issues? What new skills would be most useful to people in specific positions? Can these be acquired by the current staff or is there a need to bring in new staff?
- organisational routines and procedures: A key lesson from recent studies of equality initiatives within development co-operation agencies is that good general development practices such as clear planning, solid monitoring and reporting procedures, consultation with target groups will, at best, support the integration of equality objectives and, at least, create an environment where that integration is more likely. Thus it is important to understand the current organisation norms and procedures. It is also important to note

whether or not there is sufficient flexibility to modify routines so that equality objectives can be better met.

• *external environment and pressures:* Different institutions also have varying space to manoeuvre and independence from the general political environment. For example a central planning ministry or ministry of finance often has more 'clout' within the policy making structure than a ministry set up to work on environmental concerns. Some institutions have more flexibility to act while others are more susceptible to outside pressure.

Experience has shown that providing a short workshop for selected staff is not enough to advance equality concerns within institutions. Efforts to increase capacity in this area will require investments in understanding what the organisation does and how it functions to identify entry points and develop strategies to ensure that equality considerations become part of the normal routine.

See Also

Mainstreaming as an institutional strategy Mainstreaming paragraph in the Beijing *Platform for Action*

References

Calás, Marta B. And Linda Smircich (1996). "From the "Woman's" Point of View: Feminist Approaches to Organization Studies," in S. Clegg, C. Hardy and W. Nord (eds.) *Handbook of Organizational Studies*. London: Sage.

Goetz, Anne Marie (1995). "Introduction - Institutionalizing women's interests and gender-sensitive accountability in development," *IDS Bulletin* 26(3): 1 - 10.

_____ (ed.) (1995a) "Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development", IDS Bulletin 26(3)

_____(1992). "Gender and Administration" IDS Bulletin, 23(4).

Kardam, Nuket (1995). "Conditions of Accountability for Gender Policy: the Organizational, Political and Cognitive Contexts" in Anne Marie Goetz ed. "Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development", *IDS Bulletin.* Vol 26, No. 3 July.

Staudt, Kathleen (1990). "Gender Politics in Bureaucracy: Theoretical Issues in Comparative Perspective," in Kathleen Staudt (ed.) *Women, International Development and Politics: The Bureaucratic Mire.* Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Mainstreaming as an Institutional Strategy

Discussion

Background

Mainstreaming strategies are being adopted by development co-operation agencies as a way of supporting efforts to achieve equality between women and men. In part, this responds to a dissatisfaction with the major emphasis of earlier strategies on separate projects for women. Although some of these projects were innovative and catalytic, most were small, isolated initiatives that made minimal contributions to changing gender inequalities. Thus equality advocates (both inside and outside development agencies) argued that gender disparities needed to be addressed at the level of policy, selection of priority areas and overall programme design. Rather than building women's components into larger projects, the objectives and priorities of these projects themselves should be informed by the overall goal of equality.

Despite an increasing use of the term mainstreaming, there is still confusion about what it means and organisations use the word in different ways. Some organisations are resisting the use of the term, as they find it confusing and difficult to translate into other languages. Other institutions, however, have found it a useful of summarizing what they are attempting to do.

Given both the high priority granted mainstreaming strategies in the Beijing *Platform for Action* and the 1995 statement of OECD-DAC High Level Meeting, it will be important to understanding both the challenges and the benefits of this approach.

Three Issues

- **Distinguishing means and ends**: One way of understanding mainstreaming is to distinguish three different targets or areas for action (Schalkwyk, *et al.*, 1996). With this approach, an agency can strive to promote changes in:
 - the partner country (its institutions, laws, government policies and programmes -- all with the eventual goal of supporting equality between women and men);
 - the development co-operation programme (either with partner governments or multilateral organisations); and
 - the agency itself (its procedures and structures).

At times, organisations have tended to blur these three areas and have often lost sight of the fact that change in partner countries is the overall objective. Many development cooperation agencies have focused on their own internal mechanisms and processes. Although this is important, changes in an agency and its programmes are primarily means to support equality in partner countries and not ends in themselves.

• Challenging the development agenda: Critics of mainstreaming strategies have pointed out that in some cases, mainstreaming may only involve bringing women into an unequal and unsustainable development process, when what was called for was a total rethinking of that process. This is a legitimate concern.

In order to avoid this happening, Rounaq Jahan (1995: 13) has argued that it is important to distinguish between two different types of mainstreaming strategies:

- the *integrationist approach*: this approach builds gender issues into existing development paradigms. "Widening women-and-gender concerns across a broad spectrum of sectors is the key strategy within this concept: the overall development agenda is not transformed, but each issue is adapted to take into account women-and-gender concerns."
- the agenda-setting approach: this approach implies the transformation of the existing development agenda with a gender perspective. "The participation of women as decision makers in determining development priorities is the key strategy here: women participate in all development decisions, and through this process bring about a fundamental change in the existing development paradigm."

The agenda-setting approach, with a focus on women's empowerment and increased participation in decision-making at all levels, holds the greatest potential to support equality between women and men.

Specific initiatives to support equality objectives: A mainstreaming strategy does not rule out funding specific projects that work toward equality. In fact, innovative, strategic, and catalytic initiatives play a vital role. These projects can be targeted at women, men or institutions. The crucial prerequisite is that they explicitly support equality between women and men. For example, projects could include funding for women's organisations working to hold governments accountable for the commitments they made in Beijing; target men in information campaigns on their roles, responsibilities and rights relating to sexual and reproductive health; or strengthen the capacity of a Ministry of Justice to implement legal reform consistent with the CEDAW (Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women).

One note of caution: projects that merely target women do not necessarily or automatically support equality objectives. For example, without careful consideration of gender dynamics and sound economic planning, 'income generating' projects may unintentionally add to women's work burden without significant compensation.

See Also

Evolution of the thinking and approaches to equality issues Mainstreaming Paragraph of the Beijing *Platform for Action*

References

Anderson, Mary B. (1993). *Focusing on Women: UNIFEM's Experience in Mainstreaming*. New York: UNIFEM. [Available from Woman, Ink.]

Goetz, Anne Marie (ed.) (1995). "Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development", *IDS Bulletin*. Vol 26, No. 3 July.

Jahan, Rounaq (1995). The Elusive Agenda: Mainstreaming Women in Development. London: Zed Books Ltd.

Kardam, Nukut (1991). Bringing Women In: Women's Issues in International Development Programs. Boulder, Colorado: Lynne Rienner Publishers.

Razavi, Shahra and Carol Miller (1995). *Gender Mainstreaming: A Study of Efforts by the UNDP, the World Bank and the ILO to Institutionalize Gender Issues.* UNRISD Occasional Paper - Fourth World Conference on Women. [Available from Woman, Ink.]

Schalkwyk, Johanna, Helen Thomas and Beth Woroniuk (1996). *Mainstreaming: A Strategy for Achieving Equality Between Women & Men - A Think Piece*. Stockholm: Sida (Department for Policy and Legal Services).

Mainstreaming Paragraph of the Beijing *Platform for Action*

Discussion

What the mainstreaming paragraph does

In adopting the Beijing Platform for Action, governments have undertaken a commitment to a strategy of mainstreaming gender perspectives throughout policy and planning processes. The major component of the "mainstreaming paragraph" included in each major section of the Platform for Action is as follows:

...governments and other actors should promote an active and visible policy of mainstreaming a gender perspective in all policies and programmes so that, before decisions are taken, an analysis is made of the effects on women and men, respectively.

Mainstreaming Paragraphs in the Platform for Action					
	para. 79	education			
	para. 105	health			
	para. 123	violence			
	para. 141	conflict			
	para. 164	economic activity			
	para. 189	power and decision-making			
	para. 202	institutional mechanisms for			
		women's advancement			
	para. 229	human rights			
	para. 238	media			
	para. 252	management of natural resources			
		and the environment			
	para. 273	children and youth			

The emphasis on mainstreaming gender perspectives in **all** sectors reflects a recognition that the interests and needs of women (as well as those of men) must be systematically pursued in the formulation of all government policies and programmes. That is, attention to equality issues cannot be confined to a sector called "women's development" or addressed through isolated or marginal programmes within sectors. Instead, government agencies must recognise that women are a major part of the public they serve. If governments are to serve women as well as men appropriately, and to fulfill commitments to reducing inequalities between women and men, gender perspectives must become part of the process of formulating, implementing and evaluating policies and programmes.

With the adoption of the *Platform for Action*, the mainstreaming paragraph implies obligations at various levels. First and most directly, of course, is the obligation of governments to implement this approach. Second, in the context of development co-operation, development co-operation agencies must take account of this government commitment in programmes and technical assistance activities -- not only with ministries of women's affairs, but also with central planning and sectoral ministries and institutions. The intent of the mainstreaming paragraph is closely related to DAC Members' priorities of capacity building and good governance.

Issues related to capacity in partner governments

For partner governments, a mainstreaming approach will require ministries and government institutions to review their decision-making mechanisms, the data and information available for making decisions, and the analytic and planning skills of personnel. The box entitled 'Components of capacity for mainstreaming' summarises major issued raised in a recent review of mainstreaming capacity of one partner government.

In summary, some of the difficulties in implementation that may be faced by partner governments include:

- slow dissemination of information on government commitments in the *Platform for Action* throughout ministries and to planning staff, and a general lack of understanding of what the mainstreaming commitment entails for the management and staff of these agencies;
- a tendency to view women as a "sector" -- that is, the belief that initiatives focused on women or equality are more properly dealt with by the ministry of women's affairs than by ministries of finance, education, agriculture, etc.;
- limited experience and skills in sectoral ministries to undertake analyses that compare how women and men would be affected by a policy or programme, or differences in their abilities to benefit from policies and programmes;
- inadequacies in the data available through central statistical services and sectoral data management systems for purposes of assessing policies and programmes by gender;
- weak links between government ministries and women's organisations, equality advocacy groups and women's studies centres;
- overly high demands and expectations of the ministry of women's affairs (the national machinery).

Issues related to approaches of development cooperation agencies

The mainstreaming commitment encourages a shift in focus by development co-operation agencies. Many agencies have undertaken various initiatives to direct more resources to women and to promote greater attention to issues of equality between women and men in the programmes and projects they sponsor. However, if the skills and procedures for addressing equality issues do not exist within partner country institutions, the efforts made in the various development co-operation projects will remain isolated initiatives with limited long-term impact. Initiatives of development co-operation agencies to increase government capacity for gender-aware planning have generally focused on this issue or on ministries of women's affairs. That is, development co-operation agencies often fail to incorporate the concern with gender-aware planning into capacity-building initiatives for economic planning, or agricultural management, or the improvement of statistical databases. However, it is now being recognised that DAC Members must themselves *mainstream* their

attention to this issue by ensuring that it is integral to their initiatives in the area of good government and the reform of public administration.

Development co-operation agencies have many opportunities to assist partner governments in implementing the mainstreaming paragraph.

- Policy dialogue is an important means for maintaining a high profile for commitments made by partner governments to mainstreaming gender perspectives throughout policy and planning processes, and for demonstrating the relevance of this concern.
- The mainstreaming paragraph is relevant to all institution building and capacity building initiatives -- the institutional capacity of the development partner must be defined to include capacity to identify and address gender-based needs and to reduce disparities between women and men. An initiative to increase the planning capacity of the ministry of agriculture, for example, can include the analytic skills and information required to analyse differences between women and men in activities and resources in the agricultural sector, and how this may lead to differing needs to achieve objectives such as increased income and productivity. An initiative to increase the capacity of the judiciary to apply the rule of law can include components that increase the awareness of all judicial officers (both men and women) of international and national law on women's rights, and support the development of skills in interpretation of the law and evidence in a way that supports equality between women and men.
- Initiatives to strengthen the information base for planning also offer opportunities. Research studies, the development of policy independent advisory institutions, measures to cultivate and support the development of local expertise are all measures that can incorporate elements to build local expertise and resources for addressing equality issues in the policy and planning process.

Many DAC Members can draw on innovations in their own countries in mainstreaming gender perspectives into policy and planning processes. This might include, for example, the experience gained by their own national statistical agency in developing methodologies for sex-disaggregated or gender sensitive data; or approaches developed by different ministries or sectoral institutions for incorporating equality concerns in policy and programme analysis; or mechanisms for constructive dialogue between government and non-government organisations on equality issues. At the same time, development co-operation agencies should be aware of the value and need for the exchange of experience and lessons learned between DAC Members and development partners on mainstreaming equality issues into government policy and planning processes -- it is an area in which the achievements of many countries on both sides of the partnership have been modest to date.

Components of capacity for mainstreaming

"The Institutional Review investigated various aspects of capacity for implementing [a mainstreaming] approach. The **main components of capacity** analysed in the various studies include:

- **understanding and commitment:** clarity about the goal of women's equality and development at both senior decision-making and working levels of government, and commitment to pursuing this goal on the part of both institutions and individuals;
- structures and mechanisms: to ensure that women's development issues are raised within government planning and decision-making processes, to make inter-sectoral linkages, to monitor progress, and to hold agencies accountable on issues of women's development;
- **information, data and research:** the availability of necessary inputs, such as research on women's situation and adequate gender-disaggregated data to support policy and programme formulation;
- analytic, planning and management skills: to identify and respond to issues of women's development relevant to the agency's mandate;
- **participatory mechanisms:** through which women and women's development advocates can participate in decision-making about policy and programme formulation and evaluation.

"Different types of agencies require a different mix or a different application of the above components, in accordance with their overall mandates. In the Institutional Review, therefore, **different questions about capacities were asked of different agencies**. For example:

- **national focal point for women's development:** is it able to provide effective leadership on women's development issues, and to motivate and support other agencies in fulfilling their responsibilities in integrating women's development issues into ongoing planning and programmes?
- **central planning authorities:** are they able to incorporate issues of women's development in the formulation of national policy frameworks and in their guidance to line ministries in planning sectoral strategies and projects?
- **line ministries:** are they able to take up issues of women's development at the sectoral level and ensure that sectoral strategies and programmes serve women and men equitably?
- **local government bodies:** are women equitably represented in local decision-making bodies? and are these bodies able to respond to the priorities and needs of women in programme planning?

• **training institutes**: are they able to support government officials in increasing their awareness and skill on women's development issues?"

Extract from: Institutional Review of WID Capability of the Government of Bangladesh. Final Report: Mainstreaming Women's Development. Completed under a joint project of the Ministry of Women and Children Affairs and several of its development partners (Denmark, Canada, United Kingdom, UNICEF, Norway, Netherlands, Sweden and UNDP), 1996.

See also

National machinery for women's affairs Policy dialogue Programme assistance References on statistics

Men

Discussion

There has been a tendency to regard issues of women's participation in development and equality as being a "women's concern," in which initiatives are largely pursued by and for women. With experience and the more widespread adoption of the concept of "gender" there has been greater recognition of the need to consider men and their gender identities and to involve men in the pursuit of change. However, some confusion is frequently evident about how to think about men in relation to gender equality strategies.

- Some men (and women) have questioned the focus on women, saying that if the concern is "gender", should not equal attention be paid to women *and* men. This perspective overlooks the reason why gender has been identified as a issue for development co-operation -- the *inequalities* between women and men that result in *women* having less access to the development resources of a society and decision-making power at all levels of society. There is of course a need to consider the development needs of both women and men. Gender equality strategies exist to promote attention to the development needs of women that have largely been invisible, and to address the processes that continue to structure an unequal distribution of resources and opportunities to the disadvantage of women.
- However, a focus on women in isolation from their relationships with men can undermine strategies to achieve various development objectives, including the objective of reducing disparities between women and men. A gender analysis must consider not only differences between women and men, but inequalities in the relationship between them and what this means for the possibilities and action of different groups of women and men. For example, inequalities between women and men, and unequal relations between them, influence decision-making about fertility and sexuality. Thus men's gender identities and behaviour must be taken into account in order to develop effective strategies.
- The gender identities of women and men are closely interlinked. One way this is evident is in the division of labour by gender. Certain tasks and responsibilities are allocated to women and others to men -- the division of labour itself creates interdependence. Changes for women thus also mean changes for men. More broadly, equality between women and men cannot be achieved by changes in the roles and responsibilities carried by women. To date, too few men have been involved in considering what a more equal society would look like and in working as partners with women to define and pursue strategies for equality. In part, this can reflect resistance to the implications of change. However, it can also be argued that more efforts must be made by equality advocates to develop alliances with those men who support efforts to construct a more equal society.

- For some development workers, a measure of the success of gender equality strategies is that equal numbers of women and men participate in a programme or an initiative. Equal treatment and equal opportunities for women and men is an important objective. However, a lesson learned from experience is that equal participation at this level is not always the most relevant or effective means of ensuring that a programme or initiative supports the achievement of equality between women and men. Equality strategies are incorporating this lesson in two related ways:
 - focusing on impact rather than activities/inputs -- looking at how the overall initiative will affect women and men and gender equality, either directly or indirectly;
 - focusing on equality as an objective rather than on women as a target group -considering how to select and design initiatives that can support equality as an objective, which may include, for example, changes in institutional practices, legislation, and planning methodologies, and include both men and women.

On men and gender equality strategies in development co-operation

Why do gender strategies focus on women?

Development co-operation organisations and many partner countries have formulated gender equality policies and strategies precisely because gender equality does not exist. Since it is *women* who are now generally excluded or disadvantaged in relation to social and economic resources and decision-making, efforts to identify and redress imbalances have focused on women's situation and women's views. In addition, most of those working to change unequal gender relations are women. But it is increasingly recognised that strategies must focus on men as well as women, and on the relations between men and women, in order to achieve real change.

Don't men have gender too?

Gender is often overlooked as an aspect of men's social identity. This stems from a tendency to consider male characteristics and attributes as the norm, with those of women being a variation on the norm. But the lives and activities of men as well as women are strongly influenced by gender. In most societies, men tend to have broader options, more opportunities and greater access to society's resources than women. This is the result of a framework of legislation, policies, and institutions that incorporate attitudes and practices about what is appropriate to being male and female in a given society.

Cultural norms and practices about "masculinity" and expectations of men as leaders, husbands, sons and lovers -- in other words, gender -- are important in shaping the demands on men and their behaviour. In many societies, they mean that men are expected to bear arms and fight in defence of the nation or community. They shape the expectation that men will concentrate on the material needs of their families, rather than the nurturing and care relationship assigned to women. There are thus disadvantages and costs to men in patterns of gender difference.

What is the role of men in achieving gender equality?

The achievement of equality implies changes for both men and women. More equal relationships will need to be based on a redefinition of the rights and responsibilities of women and men in all spheres, including in the family, the workplace and society at large. One of the challenges in moving forward will be to motivate more men to participate as partners in the process of defining the visions and strategies for a more gender-equal society.

Adapted from draft materials prepared for Sida's Gender Equality Unit by Johanna Schalkwyk, Beth Woroniuk, and Helen Thomas, 1997.

See also

Evolution of thinking and approaches to equality issues Participation

References

White, Sarah (1994). "Making men an issue: gender planning for 'the other half." In Mandy Macdonald (ed.) *Gender Planning in Development Agencies: Meeting the Challenge*. Oxford: Oxfam Publications.

Cockburn, Cynthia (1991). In the Way of Women: Men's Resistance to Sex Equality in Organisations. Ithaca, New York: ILR Press.

Monitoring and Evaluation

Discussion

Concerns about feedback on equality issues from monitoring and evaluation processes

Monitoring, reporting and evaluation are critical processes for assessing and improving development practices and impacts. Concerns about the contribution of these processes to assessing progress and achievements in implementing equality strategies have been raised in recent studies.

- In monitoring, reporting and evaluation practices, the focus on processes and inputs rather than results and impacts means that there is limited learning from this process about the way that agencies or specific projects affects people's lives. This is a general concern about these processes, not only in relation to the ability to assess whether development co-operation is having a positive impact on women. However, the tendency to focus on process, inputs and activities does seem particularly pronounced in assessments of the implementation of WID and equality policies both at the agency level and project level.
- In the absence of specific objectives or goals concerning women's participation and gender equality (at either the agency or project level), there are few criteria against which to measure progress or achievements. Assessments are therefore rather subjective, and often based on the values and implicit assumptions about gender and equality on the part of the evaluator.
- Agency policy concerns with respect to women's participation and equality generally receive attention only if they are explicitly discussed in project documents. Such discussion is often omitted from project documents despite agency directives to integrate these issues throughout the entire project cycle. There is often a reluctance to undertake monitoring of elements not included in project objectives, as it is seen as going beyond what can be legitimately expected of implementing agencies or contractors. However, even if the latter are not assessed on performance with respect to concerns not specified in the project objectives, DAC Member agencies have a legitimate interest in assessing a project's conformity with agency policy goals and its problems or achievements in this area as an input into further planning.
- ◆ Issues of women's participation and equality between women and men are frequently considered an "add-on" in project monitoring and evaluation, and are often separate from the overall discussion of the initiative. This can result in conclusions about benefits to women even though only a minor part of project resources were directed to them and men received substantially greater benefits. (Such unequal distributions of benefits can mean that the overall impact on equality is negative despite some level of benefit by women.)

• Interesting initiatives taken within projects are often not reflected in the project reporting process, and thus opportunities to share experience within an agency are lost.

Lessons from experience

Several lessons can be drawn from the OECD Assessment of DAC Members' WID Policies and Programmes about the monitoring and evaluation of specific initiatives:

- **Terms of reference.** Evaluation terms of reference must include explicit and feasible directions for the analysis of equality issues in order to produce a report that includes these and is helpful for future planning purposes. Standard clauses requiring attention to equality issues (e.g., "gender issues will be addressed throughout the evaluation") are insufficient. They are too vague to offer guidance and easily overlooked. Questions about equality and gender relations must be adapted to the specific project and what the agency and/or the partner government needs to learn from the evaluation for planning purposes.
- *Expertise.* Selecting an evaluation team that includes a member with expertise on equality issues who is specifically allocated the time to undertake this function results in evaluations that deal more effectively with these issues.
- Analysis and interpretation. More rigorous standards must be applied in the assessment of the analyses and conclusions of evaluators. Assessments that look at women's participation or benefits derived by women in isolation from the context are inadequate and misleading. Rather than a separate page or chapter on women, comparisons between women and men in the target group should be made throughout the assessment, and the conclusions about benefits or outcomes should be supported by data and analysis.

Issues for further attention

- Specification of results and relevant indicators. Many agencies are seeking to focus more on the results and impacts of development co-operation through adopting results-based management practices. It will be important to ensure that the equality goal is reflected in the specification of results sought (at the agency and project level), in indicators for monitoring achievement of results, and in evaluation criteria.
- "Successes" and "best practices". There have been calls from both the management and programme staff of development co-operation agencies for more examples of "successes" and "best practices", both to demonstrate what has been achieved and to give a more concrete idea of what an initiative that incorporates a gender perspective would actually look like. A factor that has made the identification of such examples difficult is the absence of clear goals or criteria for success in this area either at the agency or project level. Another factor has been weaknesses in reporting and the lack of models or mechanisms for documenting, reporting or disseminating information on strategies and lessons learned.
- *Comparative analyses of strategies to address specific problems.* The information available on best practices and lessons learned often focuses on strategies and processes. While this is

valuable, it does not give much guidance on the selection of specific strategies to address specific sectoral problems. One good example of a comparative review in relation to a specific problem is by Bellew and King (1993), which sifts the evidence available about strategies to increase the participation of women in basic education that have been pursued in various different conditions. This study points out that the task was complicated by a lack of data on these initiatives and the lack of rigorous evaluation. It also stresses the importance of careful documentation and assessment to determine what works under what conditions in order to identify cost-effective strategies. More such reviews would be of benefit in taking equality strategies forward.

"Evaluation criteria for projects often appeared to be limited by the project's original rationale, and not guided by broader policy objectives such as WID commitments. Where issues concerning women's participation in the project or their participation in the community were not explicitly addressed in the project rationale and objectives, they generally did not arise in the evaluation. There was on occasion a good analysis of women's position and their roles in the community. However, a more frequent approach was to allude to cultural differences as unsurmountable barriers to implementation, with little or no analysis and without proposing alternatives.

Evaluators rarely raised questions about aspects of the project's rationale or assumptions that could affect women's ability to participate. Even where evaluators discussed successes or constraints in including women in a project, recommendations seldom resulted from this analysis; nor were these issues noted in executive summaries.

While the evaluation sample suggests that an increasing proportion of evaluations pay some attention to the position of women, it is not yet routine and is infrequently substantive, and the process is providing limited feedback into policy and project development.

The rather ad hoc approach to addressing WID in project evaluations is troublesome, as it reflects either that evaluators are not taking WID issues seriously or, more broadly, that evaluations in general (and not only with respect to WID) are not being designed and executed in ways that contribute to learning and better project strategies by development-assistance agencies."

- OECD, Assessment of DAC Members' WID Policies and Programmes: Overall Report, p.13-14.

See also

Best Practices: Development Co-operation and gender equality (Section II) Agency evaluations of WID strategies/policies (Section II) Participation

References

Beck, Tony (1994). *Literature Review of Social Gender Indicators*. Prepared for Marie Powell, WID Specialist, Asia Branch, CIDA.

Bellew, Rosemary T. and Elizabeth M. King (1993). "Educating women: lessons from experience." In Elizabeth M. King and M. Anne Hill (eds), *Women's Education in Developing Countries: Barriers, Benefits and Policies.* Washington: Johns Hopkins University Press for the World Bank.

CIDA (1996). Guide to Gender-Sensitive Indicators. Ottawa.

(1996b). A Project Level Handbook: The Why and How of Gender-Sensitive Indicators. Ottawa.

_____ (1996b). WID/GE Performance Review. Best Practices Study. Final Report. Prepared for Performance Review Division, CIDA, by Goss Gilroy Inc. and Helen Trevor Thomas Consulting.

Lexow, Janne, Knut Samset, Amanda Hammar, Rekha Bezbourah and Rasil Basu (1995). *Empowering Women: Thirteen Lessons from Thirteen Swedish-funded Projects*. SASDA (Secretariat for Analysis of Swedish Development Assistance. Working Paper No. 42. Stockholm.

OECD/DAC (1994). Assessment of DAC Members' WID Policies and Programmes. Overall Report. Report prepared under the auspices of the DAC Expert Group on Evaluation by Johanna Schalkwyk. Also the input study to this report, *Theme III. WID as a Cross-cutting Issue in Development Aid Evaluation.* Prepared by Julia Paton, Marsters Associates, for the Canadian International Development Agency.

Overseas Development Administration (1993). Social Development Handbook: A Guide to Social Issues in ODA Projects & Programmes. London: Social Development Department.

National Machinery for Women's Affairs

Discussion

Background

The term "national machinery" refers to the various types of offices or ministries for women's affairs established by governments in both the North and the South in the last two decades. The international statements adopted at all four UN conferences on women have urged governments to set up and strengthen the national machinery so that it can play an effective role within government. The Beijing *Platform for Action* emphasizes the role of the national machinery in supporting a mainstreaming strategy. It states that:

Para. 201. A national machinery for the advancement of women is the central policy-co-ordinating unit inside government. its main task is to support the government-wide mainstreaming of a gender-equality perspective in all policy areas.

The *Platform for Action* also outlines a number of actions to be taken by governments to strengthen national machineries. These include:

- Para. 203. (a) Ensure that responsibility for the advancement of women is vested in the highest possible level of government; in many cases, this could be at the level of Cabinet minister;
 - (b) Based on a strong political commitment, create a national machinery, where it does not exist, and strengthen, as appropriate, existing national machineries for the advancement of women at the highest level of government; it should have clearly defined mandates and authority; critical elements would be adequate resources and the ability and competence to influence policy and formulate and review legislation; among other things, it should perform policy analysis, undertake advocacy, communication, co-ordination and monitoring of implementation....

Issues

The *Platform for Action* also recognises the problems facing national machineries:

National machineries are diverse in form and uneven in their effectiveness, and in some cases have declined. Often marginalised in national government structures, these mechanisms are often hampered by unclear mandates, lack of adequate staff, training, data and sufficient resources, and insufficient support from national political leadership (para. 196).

The complexity of the challenges facing national machineries is often under-estimated.

- The national machinery is generally the focal point for follow-up to the Beijing *Platform for Action* and the agency that is expected to provide leadership in implementing government policies on women and equality. To do this, it needs to act as a *catalyst* for action by other government ministries, and as the agency that *builds the capacity of other government ministries* to be more responsive to the needs and interests of women. It is expected to undertake this capacity-building function targeting other institutions and government personnel while simultaneously building its own capacity in an area in which there are few models and methodologies. Sophisticated political and bureaucratic skills are required to develop coherent strategies for such an agency and to manage the process of policy advocacy and relations with other institutions.
- The function of catalyst offers few political rewards. Working within the bureaucracy to ensure that other ministries adapt planning procedures, programmes and resource allocations to reflect the needs and interests of women is a long-term process in which the achievements are slow and incremental. This does not offer high visibility for either the minister or staff, and it is generally difficult to demonstrate progress, or attribute credit. Thus this ministry is often an unattractive assignment for politicians and experienced bureaucrats.

It also means that there is strong pressure on the agency to deliver programmes directly to the public in order to gain visibility and demonstrate concrete results. However, the identification of programmes to implement may be more influenced by the type of initiatives that donors are willing to fund than by a coherent strategy that links implementation and policy advocacy functions. Programme implementation also absorbs considerable administrative resources and diverts attention away from the more complex and less rewarding activities in policy advocacy.

The actual and perceived weaknesses of the ministries and offices serving as the national machinery for women's affairs has meant that some development co-operation agencies are reluctant to work with them. Investment in a national machinery may make more sense when this is viewed as an aspect of an agency's concerns with governance and good government objectives, rather than a means by which to reach women directly with programmes and services. If development co-operation agencies seek to strengthen national institutions and national capacity for effective and equitable policy development and programme delivery, then the national machinery for women cannot be ignored. The capacity of national institutions to develop coherent and manageable mandates, and to pursue them effectively, will be an important factor in achieving sustainable progress toward equality objectives that both national government and development co-operation agencies have committed themselves to.

See Also

Mainstreaming paragraph of the Beijing Platform for Action

References

Alvarez, Sonia (1990). "Contradictions of a 'women's space' in a male-dominated state: the political role of the commissions on the status of women in post-authoritarian Brazil." In Kathleen Staudt (ed.) *Women, International Development and Politics. The Bureaucratic Mire.* Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Brouwers, Ria, Annet Lingen and Claudia Tempelman (1992). "Support to National Machinery for Women in Developing Countries: Efforts of OECD/DAC Members." Prepared at the request of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Special Programme for Women and Development, The Netherlands and the OECD/DAC Expert Group on Women in Development.

Byrne, Bridget and Julie Koch Leier with Sally Baden and Rachel Marcus (1996). *National Machineries for women in development: Experiences, lessons and strategies for institutionalising gender in development policy and planning.* Bridge Report No. 35, Report prepared for the European Commission, Directorate General for Development (DGVIII).

Goetz, Anne Marie (1995). The Politics of Integrating Gender to State Development Processes. Trends, Opportunities and Constraints in Bangladesh, Chile, Jamaica, Mali, Morocco and Uganda. Occasional Paper 2, Fourth World Conference on Women, UNRISD, Geneva.

Gordon, Shirley (ed.) (1984). Ladies in Limbo. The Fate of Women's Bureaux. Six Case Studies from the Caribbean. London: Commonwealth Secretariat.

Hirschmann, David (1990). "The Malawi case: enclave politics, core resistance, and 'Nkhoswe No. 1'". In Kathleen Staudt (ed.) *Women, International Development and Politics. The Bureaucratic Mire.* Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

NORAD (1995). A world wide co-operation. Norwegian support to selected national machineries for the advancement of women. A Review prepared by Women in Development Consulting (WIDCO). Oslo: NORAD.

Rowan Campbell, Dorienne 1995). "National machineries for women: a balancing act." In Noeleen Heyzer (ed.), *A Commitment to the World's Women. Perspectives on Development for Beijing and Beyond.* New York: UNIFEM. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Sawer, Marian (1996). *Femocrats and Ecorats. Women's Policy Machinery in Australia, Canada and New Zealand.* United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD), Occasional Paper No. 6, Fourth World Conference on Women.

Summers, Anne (1986). "Mandarins or missionaries: women in the federal bureaucracy." In Norma Grieves and Aisa Burns (eds), *Australian Women: New Feminist Perspectives*. Melbourne: Oxford University Press.

Torres, Amaryllis T., and Rosario S. del Rosario *et. al.* (1994). *Gender and development. Making the bureaucracy gender-responsive.* A sourcebook for advocates, planners and implementors. UNIFEM (and the National Commission on the Role of Filipino Women).

Valdeavilla, Ermelita (1995). "Breakthrough and challenges of making the Philippine government work for gender equality." *IDS Bulletin* 26(3): 94-101 (Special Issue: Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development).

NGOs and Equality Issues

Discussion³

Background

Development co-operation agencies face challenges working with NGOs (non-governmental organisations) from their own countries. Many NGOs are fiercely independent, resent interference in their day-to-day affairs and keep their distance from the official state development organisation. In this complicated relationship, policy compliance (even on goals such as equality) can be a contentious issue.

Development co-operation agencies now generally fund NGOs through block grants or programme funds, rather than through a project-by-project approval system. Therefore a system to scrutinize individual projects makes little sense. Instead, agencies can work with NGOs (through dialogue, incentives, evaluations, formal guidelines...) to improve their institutional capacity to work with equality issues and develop strategies that suit the specific characteristics of each NGO.

Issues

In discussions with NGOs, agency staff can consider issues relating to both the institutional organisation of the NGO and its programmes (Woroniuk, *et al*, 1996).

Institutional Issues

- Many NGOs have developed **gender equality policies** that set out their analysis of the situation, what they hope to achieve, and how. Yet experience has shown that the existence of a policy is not enough to ensure implementation. It is also important to know what progress the NGO has made to ensure that all its programmes and projects take gender equality considerations into account.
- Although there is not consensus on 'the best' **institutional structure** to support the implementation of gender equality policy, the need for a mechanism to act as both a catalyst and advocate for equality goals is now clear. Gender policies are not 'self-implementing'. Resources are required.
- The integration of gender equality objectives into NGO programmes requires **specific skills** on the part of staff and volunteers. The need for these skills has been underestimated in the past as the responsibility for the gender equality policy was often delegated to a group of junior women to work on in their lunch hours. A basic

^{3.} This discussion draws heavily on Woroniuk, et al. (1996).

commitment to the issue is an important starting point, however, experience and technical skills are also required.

• As part of the process of strengthening their work on equality issues, some NGOs have turned to an examination of their own **structures and work cultures**. They have raised questions relating to power within their organisation and the relative position of women and men internally.

Programming Issues

- Given that NGOs almost always work in **partnership** with southern NGOs, these relationships are an important focus in discussions on equality issues. The most fruitful approach appears to be one where all partners enter the discussion with an open mind and a willingness to learn from each other. It is also useful to broaden discussions to include women's organisations and equality advocates as they have often been marginalized in north-south NGO relationships.
- The recognition of equality as a strategic objective of development also challenges NGOs to ensure that there are clear connections between equality and other development priorities and themes. If equality is treated as an "add-on", then progress is unlikely. Many NGOs have treated 'women's projects' as a separate sector or area of activity. Moving beyond this type of approach and adopting it as a mainstreaming strategy can be difficult.
- Some NGOs have argued that their initiatives target women and that is sufficient. Although increased **participation** is important, it does not automatically lead to more equal gender relations. Involving more women as beneficiaries may not work to rectify gender disparities if questions of power are not addressed and women are not involved in the decision-making process as equal partners.
- NGOs play an important role in involving and informing citizens about development issues. Gender equality issues are also important in **public information activities and fundraising campaigns**. Education programmes can integrate a gender perspective in their discussion of all issues (conflict resolution, structural adjustment...) and care can be taken to avoid stereotypical images of women as victims in fundraising campaigns.

See Also

Empowerment Institutional analysis from as a gender perspective Mainstreaming as an institutional strategy Participatory approaches Women's movement (international) (Section II)

References

Macdonald, Mandy (ed.) (1994). Gender Planning in Development Agencies: Meeting the Challenge. Oxford: OXFAM.

National Alliance of Women's Organisations (1993). Equality and Development: Report of Survey and Research on Gender Policies of Aid and Development Agencies in the UK. London.

Plewes, Betty & Rieky Stuart (1992). *Gender Work is Never Done: A Study of Canadian NGO Capacity in Gender and Development*. Ottawa: Canadian Council for International Co-operation and the Canadian International Development Agency.

_____ (1991). *Developing an Organizational Gender Policy - CUSO: A Case Study*. Ottawa: MATCH International Centre.

Siddharth, Veena (1995). "Gendered Participation: NGOs and the World Bank", IDS Bulletin. 26(3) July.

Woroniuk, Beth; Johanna Schalkwyk and Helen Thomas (1996). *Gender Equality and Swedish Non-Governmental Organizations: Overview and Talking Points*. Prepared for the Division for Co-operation with NGOs (SEKA) and the Gender Equality Unit, Sida, Stockholm.

Participatory Approaches

Discussion

Participatory development is now seen as a vital component of good development practice. "For some, it is a matter of principle; for others, a practice; and, for still others, an end in itself" (World Bank, 1995). There are now a number of techniques and methodologies to draw on, including participatory rural appraisal.

Participatory development that fails to incorporate an understanding of gender inequalities will not automatically lead to more equal gender relations. According to the World Bank (1995: 139):

We cannot assume that women will automatically benefit from efforts to involve poor people in project design and implementation. On the contrary, experience has made it clear that, unless specific steps are taken to ensure that women participate and benefit, they usually do not. A World Bank evaluation of 121 rural water supply projects found that even in a sector where women carried the greater share of responsibility, they benefited primarily from the 17% of water projects which had been specifically designed to involve them.

Participation and the involvement of women, however, are not unambiguous concepts. Participation can imply women and men's involvement in project implementation (physical work in the construction of roads, for example). Yet most development planners would argue that there is a need to beyond involvement at that stage to involvement in the conception and design of initiatives. Several important tensions in participatory approaches emerge⁴:

• There may not be consensus on 'what should be done' among those consulted: Women and women's organisations do not always share the same needs and interests. There can be serious disagreements about priorities and strategies. According to Mayoux

Participatory development is premised on the possibility of consensus between participants about needs and aims. In many cases this is likely to be problematic. Firstly, there are likely to be problems defining 'needs' and the degree to which immediately recognizable 'practical' needs can be met without also addressing underlying inequalities from which they arise. Secondly, different participants are likely to have different priorities and consensus may not be possible.

• **Consultation may involve a cost for those consulted**: Women often have little 'spare time' and women's organisations are often understaffed and pressed to the limit with the

^{4.} Parts of this analysis draw heavily on Mayoux (1995) as adapted and used by Beth Woroniuk and Jane Fuller in work for OXFAM-CANADA.

multiple demands of their work. Involvement in participatory processes does have a price. This is also discussed by Mayoux:

Participatory development is premised on the assumption that the benefits of participation are self-evident, and outweigh any costs for participants. However, increasing participation often requires organisational skills, time and resources. The relationship between inputs and benefits is rarely direct and costs are often greatest for those most disadvantaged.

These costs are high for an organisation that has funding and other links with numerous NGOs or agencies from various countries. It is not entirely ludicrous to imagine an organisation that spends so much time providing input into the programmes of development agencies, that it has little time left over to pursue its original programme.

- In order to fulfill its potential of better development programmes, participation should also be accompanied with a shift in power from funder to partners: Participation is an empty process if it is not accompanied by changes in who makes decisions and how the decisions are made. Asking people "what they need" or what they would like to see as a focus of a programme, without actually handing over power to influence decisions, is an empty process. Consultation or participation in and of itself does not change the fact that it is still the northern agency which decides what to listen to within the consultative process or what is possible to actually do once the consultation is over.
- In order to be effective, participation requires special skills and resources: Given the complexities outlined above, it has become clear that participation requires specific facilitation skills. People co-ordinating the participatory process must know how to listen, how to facilitate debates without overly influencing them, and how to build consensus. These skills are often hard to find.
- An organisation has to have both the ability and willingness to respond to and incorporate the issues raised by the participatory process: Participation is not isolated from the organisational culture and flexibility of an organisation. Participation is an empty process if an organisation does not have the flexibility or the institutional capacity to respond to outcomes of the consultation (ie. lack of access to funds, an overly rigid programming cycle, or a decision-making structure that mitigates outside input).

These tensions suggest an even greater problem that underlies this approach -- that it is, in most cases, imposed by 'outside agents'. As Mayoux argues, "outside agencies select or promote certain activities and not others, certain forms of organisation and not others. Implicit choices are inevitably being made about whom and what to fund..." (Mayoux, 1995). Often, the benefits that are expected to be gained by participants are not questioned, which suggests that there is little consideration of the resources that are required of the participants to be involved in this type of approach to undertaking a development initiative.

Thus participation is not as straightforward as it might first appear. Women will not automatically benefit from a participatory approach. Participatory methodologies raise numerous questions about authority, power, needs, and decision-making. This is not meant as an argument against participation, but rather a plea to do it with care and in a way that supports equality objectives.

See Also

Empowerment NGOs and equality issues

References

Bridge (1994). Annotated bibliography on gender, rapid rural appraisal and participatory rural appraisal. IDS. Compiled for Environment, WID and other Global Issues Division, Planning Department, Japan International Co-operation Agency.

Mayoux, Linda (1995). "Beyond Naivety: Women, Gender Inequality and Participatory Development," *Development and Change*. 26(2), pp. 235-258.

Mosse, David (1994). "Authority, Gender and Knowledge: Theoretical Reflections on the Practice of Participatory Rural Appraisal," *Development and Change* 25(1994): 497-526.

Robinson-Pant, Anna (1997). "PRA and Gender: an Overview," in Susan Joekes (ed.) "Retreat or Advance? Mainstreaming gender analysis at the Institute of Development Studies," *Journal of International Development* 8(5): 697-727.

World Bank (1995). World Bank Participation Sourcebook. Washington: Environment Department, Social Policy and Resettlement Division.

Policy Dialogue

Discussion

What is policy dialogue?

The statement on gender equality made by the 1995 High-Level Meeting of the DAC and the DAC *Guidelines for Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment in Development Co-operation* emphasize the importance of policy dialogue as a means of pursuing the goal of equality.

Policy dialogue between DAC Members and partners governments takes various forms:

- formal discussions between a DAC Member agency and a partner government on the overall policy environment and the themes and sectors of co-operation;
- formal discussions between agency staff and counterparts in government institutions in the process of setting priorities, negotiating specific programmes and projects, and reviewing progress;
- ongoing and less formal contacts between agency and project staff and their counterparts in government institutions;
- multilateral discussions between senior representatives of DAC Members and ministerial representatives at Consultative Group meetings.

Demonstrating through policy dialogue that equality is a significant concern

Policy dialogue is a means by which development co-operation agencies advance major policy concerns and assess the room for manoeuvre in addressing them. National partners participating in policy dialogue are generally doing the same thing. In the process of dialogue and negotiation, development co-operation agencies should be able to *demonstrate* that the equality between women and men is a significant issue in the way they pursue these issues in discussions. Important elements of this might include:

- developing the knowledge and skills to discuss issues of equality between women and men as relevant to the various items on the policy agenda, and not only agenda items that focus on women or equality (i.e., to discuss them in relation to macroeconomic policy, democratic development, good governance, education, etc.);
- ensuring the preparatory work for policy dialogue (such the preparation of background social, economic and political analyses) incorporates equality issues as an integral element;

- consistently addressing equality concerns in analyses of sectoral problems, policies, institutions and potential reforms;
- willingness to experiment and be flexible in implementing strategies, and to inject additional resources for research, evaluation and reflection on their success;
- some humility about the knowledge and achievements in DAC Member countries in addressing inequalities between women and men (that is, the governments in DAC Member countries are also in the process of formulating approaches to problems of inequality and are not necessarily models of success in this area).

Achieving successful policy dialogue

Donors need to have an in-country presence if they wish to engage in successful policy dialogue as this is a long-term process. Before beginning policy dialogue with the government of a partner country, donors need to have worked together to agree concerns and cross-cutting priorities in that country and how best to proceed in the local context. Donor collaboration can provide strong leverage for focusing attention on specific areas. Donors should concern themselves with both relevant regional as well as national issues. Dialogue should take place at all levels -- with government (national and state), individual ministries, planning commissions, influential players, NGOs, public corporations, multilateral agencies, and the media and appropriate lobby groups. It is particularly valuable to raise issues at the highest possible level. When raising gender concerns, it is important to encourage a win-win approach so that local players can see the benefits to them of addressing gender inequalities.

Practical suggestions:

- Use national reports and implementation strategies and the speeches made in Beijing by the partner country as a basis for dialogue.
- Hold meetings with other donors prior to policy dialogue with partner governments to determine shared objectives and concerns.
- Ensure situational analyses have been carried out by donors, and the knowledge shared between them.

When encouraging national co-ordination:

- Provide a forum for co-ordination between government, bilaterals and multilaterals.
- Encourage consultation with NGOs and networks.
- Continue to meet as a local donor co-ordination group and agree on policy and strategies for working with government.

Extract from: OECD/DAC Expert Group on Women in Development (1996). Implications of the Fourth United Nations Conference on Women in Beijing for Development Cooperation in South Asia. Regional Seminar, Madras 23-25 April 1996. Summary Report produced by ODA for the Expert Group.

Resources for policy dialogue on equality between women and men

Policy dialogue can assist in facilitating a policy environment conducive to equality between women and men and in establishing common ground for joint efforts. Resources that DAC Members can draw on to inform and support policy dialogue on equality issues include:

- International agreements. DAC Members and partner governments have undertaken broad commitments to equality between women and men in adopting the Beijing *Platform for Action* and in agreements reached at other recent international forums. Many DAC Members and partner governments have ratified the UN *Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women* (CEDAW). These commitments provide a broad framework for the discussion of equality issues, and a justification for raising them.
- National policies of partner governments. Many partner countries have also adopted national policies on the position of women or equality between women and men that state general principles as well as objectives in specific sectors. These national commitments are an important starting point for policy dialogue on how development co-operation can assist in furthering objectives already specified by partner governments.
- National machinery for women's affairs. Most partner countries have established a government ministry or office of women's affairs that acts as an advocate for equality between women and men and for a more consistent response by all government ministries and institutions to the needs and concerns of women. Consultations with the national machinery is a means of identifying national commitments and priorities. The national machinery can also serve as a useful partner in policy dialogue with sectoral counterparts such as agriculture, public works, environmental management. Broadening the policy dialogue to include the national machinery is also a means of giving greater legitimacy to this office and its mandate.
- Women's organisations, equality advocacy groups, and women's studies centres. These non-governmental organisations have increased in numbers and gained experience in the past two decades. Consultations with them can provide insights into the situation of women and the momentum for change that exists in the country, and can assist in identifying priorities for policy dialogue and programme development.

See also

Mainstreaming paragraph of the Beijing *Platform for Action* National machinery for women's affairs UN conferences and agreements (Section II)

References

Kardam, Nuket (1993). "Development Approaches and the Role of Policy Advocacy: The Case of the World Bank," *World Development* 21(11): 1773-1786.

Policy "Evaporation" during the Planning and Implementation Cycle

Discussion

What is "policy evaporation"?

In the past two decades, DAC Members have all adopted policies on women's participation in development or equality between women and men. Most partner governments have also undertaken policy commitments in the form of specific national statements on women's position or equality, ratification of the UN *Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women* (CEDAW), and the adoption of international statements such as the Beijing *Platform for Action*.

However, in the words of Longwe (1995), these policy commitments often "evaporate" or fade in the formulation and implementation of policies and programmes.

- In development co-operation agencies, attention to policy commitments on women's participation or gender equality is not systematic in the planning and implementation cycle. Thematic and sectoral statements on concerns such as good governance, basic needs or the environment, may include passing reference to women or equality as an area of concern. Analyses prepared for the formulation of country and sectoral strategies or in support of project formulation may include references to these commitments, but often in a separate section rather than as an integral part of the analysis. The policy commitment becomes increasingly less visible in the process of specifying project objectives, anticipated results, implementation strategies and evaluation. A broad commitment to improving the relative position of women and reducing gender disparities is often reduced to a "women's component" that has a very small claim on project resources, or a focus on counting the number of women in various project activities.
- In partner countries, a similar process occurs. High-level commitments made by governments are often not reflected in sectoral policies. Attention to concerns about women and equality is often confined to a "women's development sector" and not reflected in the standard processes for sectoral analysis, programme formulation and monitoring of implementation. In many countries, the national machinery for women's affairs has limited influence and faces constraints to gaining greater attention for policy commitments.

Issues for attention:

• Consistent leadership and demands on staff. Senior management provides signals about the relative priority assigned to various issues through the demands on staff for analysis, information and updates on progress. When such demands are not made and

when staff are not held accountable for action on issue of equality, there is little incentive for staff to act.

- Organisational culture and attitudes. It has become increasingly clear that issues of women's participation in development and equality between women and men is not simply a matter of technique or skills -- their pursuit is also influenced by the organisational culture of development co-operation agencies and the personal attitudes of staff. Conflicting perspectives on equality and gender relations exist within DAC countries and influence DAC Member agencies and their staff. Evaluations of WID and equality strategies have noted that indifference, ambivalence and resistance are a constraint on implementation and that to date progress has depended on the personal commitment to the issue of a relatively small number of staff.
- Focus on human dimensions and the interaction between economic, cultural and social dimensions. There is a strong tendency in many development co-operation organisations to define strategies and projects in technical and sectoral terms. But unless human dimensions are at the forefront, it is not possible to consider the interests and needs of women or the implications of inequality between women and men. Economic analyses at the macro-level have become increasingly important. However, these are often approached as technical analyses concerned with institutions and aggregate variables, and it has been difficult to gain attention for the way in which economic factors interact with social and cultural ones. More people-centered and holistic approaches will be needed to deal adequately with equality concerns as well as other policy themes on the development co-operation agenda.
- Separate processes. In many cases, institutional processes for incorporating equality issues run parallel to existing processes. For example, in addition to a general procedural manual, an agency may have manuals, guidelines and checklists on the inclusion of gender issues at various stages of the project cycle. It may require that a gender analysis be done and attached to programme or project documents. It may offer a separate course in gender analysis. These separate steps and processes may be necessary to gain sufficient attention to gender concerns, but there is a danger of marginalising the issue if it is not also part of the "mainstream" organisational processes.
- ◆ Issue simplification. There are multiple demands on staff dealing with policy, programme and project formulation and those involved in implementation. The complexity of their work is augmented by the increasing number of development themes and cross-sectoral concerns that need to be taken into account. Staff thus tend to simplify. This is seen in the frequently reiterated demand for "tools" and specific "how-to" guides that will identify what needs to be looked at or done in a particular situation. It is also evident in the tendency to focus on women's projects or women's components, which are discrete, concrete and manageable. However, gender disparities and inequality between women and men are complex issues that cannot be dealt with through ready-made "tools" and in isolation from other development issues and approaches.

- Use of consultants. The tendency to use consultants to support work on equality is arguably more pronounced than in other policy and thematic concerns. Consultants are used to provide advice in policy development, undertake analyses to support country and sectoral strategies, do the gender analysis for project formulation, provide advice on project gender strategies, etc. This could be interpreted positively, as a means by which staff ensure expert input where a need has been identified, or negatively, as an indicator that staff do not regard the work on gender issues as an aspect of their own professional responsibility. The frequent use of junior consultants would seem to support the latter. A general result of the reliance on consultants is a lack of continuity in the programme or project cycle (to ensure that issues and strategies identified at one point are followed-up at later stages) and the absence of a solid "institutional memory" about what works and why.
- Requirements of contractors and implementors. A lesson from experience is that contractors and implementors are unlikely to follow-up on equality issues if these are not reflected in the stated objectives of the initiative or negotiated agreement. Similarly, monitoring and evaluation processes pay little attention to equality issues if this not explicitly part of project objectives or the terms of reference for ongoing monitoring or the evaluation process. Contractors and implementors are generally not selected on the basis of their understanding, skills or demonstrated experience to pursuing equality objectives. This suggests the need to ensure that equality objectives are reflected in official project documents, to develop criteria to assess the capacity of contractors on equality issues, and to ensure that contracts and terms of reference state performance expectations clearly.
- Acceding to "policy evaporation" at the national level. Officials of development cooperation agencies are often reluctant to raise or pursue equality issues when these are not put on the agenda by partners, particularly when an agency values "responsiveness" and local leadership in setting the agenda. However, this undervalues the policy commitments made by both DAC Member countries and their partners in agreements on the *Platform for Action* as well as the commitments each have made separately. Efforts by DAC Members to raise equality issues in dialogue and programme planning can give greater legitimacy and impetus to the momentum for change that already exists in partner countries. The commitments made by partner governments provide a firm ground for dialogue on joint strategies and programmes and for exploring opportunities in various sectors of co-operation. Ensuring that dialogue processes include the national machinery for women's affairs, non-governmental women's organisations, and equality advocates can also assist in identifying priorities and strategies.

See also

Gender equality and culture Institutional analysis from a gender perspective Mainstreaming as an institutional strategy Monitoring and evaluation Policy dialogue Resistance

References

del Rosario, Virginia (1995). "Mainstreaming gender concerns: aspects of compliance, resistance and negotiation." *IDS Bulletin* 26(3): 102-109 (Special Issue: Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development).

Harrison, Elizabeth (1995). "Fish and feminists." *IDS Bulletin* 26(3):39-47 (Special Issue: Getting Institutions right for Women in Development).

Longwe, Sara H. (1995). "The evaporation of policies for women's advancement." In Noeleen Heyzer (ed.), *A Commitment to the World's Women. Perspectives on Development for Beijing and Beyond.* New York: UNIFEM. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Lotherington, Ann Therese, Marit Haug, and Anne Britt Flemmen (1991). *Implementation of Women-In-Development (WID) Policy*. Oslo, Norway: University of Oslo, Centre for Development and the Environment (Research project of FORUT, contracted by NORAD, Project No. 4069.01-91).

Programme Assistance

Discussion

DAC Definition of programme assistance

Programme assistance is defined by the DAC in the *Principles for Programme Assistance* as follows⁵:

The general characteristic of programme assistance is that it is not linked to specific project activities. Four major sub-categories of programme assistance have been identified:

- 1. General programme assistance. Programme assistance made available to a developing country, without specific sector allocation, for general development purposes, i.e., balance-of-payments financing, general budget support and commodity assistance.
- 2. Sector programme assistance. Programme assistance directed to a specific economic or social sector, such as agriculture, education, community development and educations.
- 3. Programme food aid.
- 4. Debt relief.

DAC initiatives to reflect the equality objective in programme assistance

The DAC *Principles for Programme Assistance* make a number of references to the relation between this type of assistance and policy concerns with respect to the situation of women (see paragraphs 247(h), 258 and 263), but do not give any guidance about how this issue could be pursued in the design and implementation of programme assistance.

The DAC *Guidelines for Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment in Development Co-operation* outline the following approach to programme assistance.

27. Policy dialogue between DAC Members and partner countries includes both formal processes of discussion resulting in a jointly-agreed programme of co-operation and less-structured, on-going contacts. Policy dialogue is increasingly used to advance major policy concerns in development co-operation. It is an important means by which DAC Members can demonstrate their commitment to the goal of equality and foster

^{5.}

See OECD, Development Assistance Manual. DAC Principles for Effective Aid, 1992, p.84

constructive partnerships promoting equality throughout the programme of cooperation. In pursuing policy dialogue, DAC Members will:

- use policy dialogue to actively promote equality;
- prepare for policy dialogue by working with partners to analyse the impact of proposed initiatives on both women and men and to identify the opportunities to promote equality;
- ensure that all agenda items incorporate equality considerations, rather than treating equality as a separate agenda item unrelated to other discussion;
- encourage national governments to include women's organisations and equality advocates in the process of policy dialogue and ensure their input into the overall programme of collaboration as well as specific initiatives.

Approaches to incorporating gender issues into programme assistance are being examined by a Task Force of the DAC Expert Group on Women in Development. The issues being addressed by this Task Force and the follow-up contemplated are summarised concisely in the article by Elson and McGee (1995) listed in the References.

Under the guidance of the DAC Expert Group on Women in Development, a number of working papers are being prepared on gender-aware country economic reports, including one on concepts and sources, and three country case studies that apply the framework.

Related initiatives at the national level in partner countries

Under the direction of Commonwealth Ministers Responsible for Women's Affairs, the Commonwealth Secretariat is co-ordinating an initiative to develop:

specific methodologies and analytic tools to engender national budgets in the first instance, and to pilot them in specific countries before finalising them. These tools will comprise a set of *Policy Options for Integrating Gender into National Budgetary Policies and Procedures*.

Methodologies and analytic tools will be concerned with: gender-disaggregated beneficiary assessment; gender-disaggregated public expenditure incidence analysis; gender-aware policy evaluation of public expenditure; gender-aware budget statement; gender-disaggregated analysis of financial budget and time survey interactions; gender-aware medium-term economic policies.

The initiative will also include policy dialogue among ministries of finance, economic planning, women's affairs, key spending ministries, and other stakeholders. The outcome will be considered by Commonwealth Ministers of Finance. (From a statement by the Gender and Youth Affairs Division of the Commonwealth Secretariat, London, UK.)

See also

Economic policy-making (Section II)

References

Bakker, Isabella (1994). *The Strategic Silence: Gender and Economic Policy*. Zed Books in association with the North South Institute. [Available from Women, Ink.]

Elson, Diane (1993). "Gender-aware analysis and development economics." *Journal of International Development* 2(2):237-247.

_____, Barbara Evers and Jasmine Gideon (1996). *Gender Aware Country Economic Reports - Working Paper Number 1: Concepts and Sources.* Produced to support the DAC/WID Task Force on Gender Guidelines for Programme Aid and Other Forms of Economic Policy Related Assistance. Draft for comments. November.⁶

_____ and Rosemary McGee (1995). "Gender equality, bilateral programme assistance and structural adjustment: policy and procedures." *World Development* 23(11): 1987-1994.

Palmer, Ingrid (1991). Gender and Population in the Adjustment of African Economies: Planning for Change. Geneva, ILO.

Wentholt, Wilma, Annelies Zoomers and Loes Jansen (1995). "A critical review of structural adjustment and increasing women's economic participation." *In Advancing women's status: women and men together?* Critical Review and Annotated Bibliographies Series, Royal Tropical Institute (KIT), Amsterdam, The Netherlands. [Available through Women, Ink.]

World Bank (1993). *Paradigm Postponed: Gender and Economic Adjustment in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Technical note, Human Resources and Poverty Division, Technical Department, Africa Region, World Bank.

^{6.}

There are three other working papers in this set: *Working Paper Number 2 - Uganda* (by Diane Elson and Barbara Evers), *Working Paper Number 3 - Pakistan* (by Diane Elson and Barbara Evers) and *Working Paper Number 4 - Nicaragua* (by Diane Elson and Jasmine Gideon).

Rationale Arguments

Discussion

Background

Advocates for equality between women and men have used various arguments to convince politicians, fellow agency staff members, agency leadership and others that equality is not only important but vital.

Generally there have been two different types of arguments:

- Efficiency arguments: although these arguments have taken different forms, the primary line of reasoning is that "supporting equality is good for development as it will assist in the achievement of broad development goals such as reduced population growth and improved economic growth."
- Equity arguments: with these arguments the primary line of reasoning is that equality objectives should be supported because a failure to do so is a vital injustice. Active measures must be taken to rectify disparities as an inherent part any development agenda.

One study of the implementation of equality policies in three different international development organisations (Kardam, 1991) points out that policy advocates took care to frame their arguments in favour of the consideration of gender issues in accordance with the organisation's goals:

For example, the World Bank's goals are to promote economic growth for developing countries (with reliance on market mechanisms). To the extent that women in development (WID) issues were presented and justified as instrumental to these goals, they have been acceptable (Kardam 1995: 13).

Issues

- Equality advocates working inside development co-operation agencies face the challenge of making gender equality issues relevant to a wide range of fellow staff members. Thus they may seek to use different arguments in different situations, linking equality concerns to the concerns of the specific sector or area of expertise of the person they are dealing with. In this case, it makes sense to have a range of arguments that can be mobilised at different moments and develop a sense of tactics based on when it is best to use what argument.
- That said, it is important to point out that efficiency arguments should be made with care. They have potential pitfalls that need to be avoided.

Care must be taken to ensure that the phrasing of the argument does not 'backfire' and have negative impacts on women. According to economist Diane Elson (1995: 203):

Much the easiest way to persuade policy-makers to consider gender-based planning and programming is to present women as an overlooked and underutilised resource which can be mobilised to make implementation of existing policy easier... However, the problem for all but small numbers of well-off women, is not that they are an under-utilised resource but that they are an over-utilised resource.

There is a danger that the focus moves from equality, to maximising the utilization of women's time and work.

• If the justification for equality objectives is based solely on efficiency arguments, then the argument falls if contrary evidence is presented:

... Counter-evidence can defeat quantitative arguments for women's efficiency and merit - if women's productivity can be shown to be consistently lower than men's, then, following the logic of the market, they deserve fewer resources. (Goetz, 1994:32)

- Concerns have also been raised about arguments for the consideration of equality issues in environmental policy and programmes that are based on an assumed "special relationship" between women and nature. Leach (1992) and others have pointed out that "there are traps in conceiving of women's roles in relation to the environment in a partial, narrow, or static way; of isolating them from men's roles; and of assuming a close link between women and 'nature'." They argue that a preferred approach would bring a gender analysis to each situation to examine gender-differentiated activities, rights and responsibilities in natural resource management.
- Recent analysts have also cast doubts on the viability of attempting to secure support for gender equality objectives through "synergy" arguments -- that supporting gender equality will always lead to a 'win-win" situation with other policy options. In one example, Jackson (1996) argues that it is necessary to "rescue gender from the poverty trap." She argues that women's subordination will not be resolved through a focus on poor women and there is a need to explicitly consider equality issues in development programming. "Poverty policies are not necessarily appropriate to tackling gender issues because the subordination of women is not caused by poverty."
- It is important to be realistic about what rational arguments can achieve. There are many obstacles to gender equality and many different forms of resistance. Not all of these will be overcome by solid reasoning. To quote Diane Elson (1995:203) again:

... it would be utopian to put all one's faith in rational argument as the means of overcoming male bias in the policy process. Policy-makers have other goals besides policy implementation -- and preserving male privilege may well be among the more important.

See Also

Policy Evaporation Resistance

References

Elson, Diane (1995). "Overcoming male bias," in Diane Elson (ed.). *Male Bias in the Development Process*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Goetz, Anne Marie (1997). "The Gender mainstreaming dilemma in research and policy: integrating gender into poverty assessments and public expenditure reviews," in Susan Joekes (ed.) "Retreat or Advance? Mainstreaming gender analysis at the Institute of Development Studies," *Journal of International Development* 8(5): 697-727.

_____ (1994). "From feminist knowledge to data for development: the bureaucratic management of information on women and development," *IDS Bulletin* 25 (2):27-36

Jackson, Cecile (1996). "Rescuing Gender from the Poverty Trap," World Development 24(3): 489-504.

Kardam, Nüket (1995). "Conditions of accountability for gender policy: the organisational, political and cognitive contexts." *IDS Bulletin* 26(3): 11-22 (Special Issue: Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development).

(1991). Bringing Women in: Women's Issues in International Development Programs. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.

Leach, Melissa (1992). Gender and the environment: traps and opportunities," Development in Practice 2(1):12-22.

Moser, Carolyn O. N. (1993). Gender Planning and Development: Theory, Practice & Training. New York: Routledge.

Regional Programming in Support of Gender Equality Goals

Discussion

Regional programming can play an important role in strategies for equality between women and men, particularly when equality issues are difficult to raise locally.

This point was made in a post-Beijing seminar in South Asia organised under the auspices of the DAC Expert Group on Women in Development (see citation below). In the discussion, representatives of donor organisations were joined by gender experts from regional organisations (including for example ESCAP, IWRAW, the South Asia Association for Women's Studies and DAWN). A summary of the concerns emphasized by the regional experts included the following:

Regional issues. Regional issues are increasingly important. Donors should think of ways of supporting regional networks, even if only by funding national activities in a regional context. Regionally, co-funding can achieve a high impact. Donors need to consider creative funding for important regional issues. For example, HIV-AIDS has simultaneous implications for health, education, poverty and cross-border migration.

Human rights issues. Donors can often best assist women in "difficult" countries, as well as women from marginalised minority groups, through regional networks rather than on a government-to-government basis. Donors can raise awareness amongst themselves of situations where women are discriminated against (as in Afghanistan), and share information on issues such as the increased impact on women of all forms of religious fundamentalism.

The report of the seminar also encouraged further consideration of national initiatives in a regional context:

Donors need to consider national initiatives in a more regional context and share information on issues with gender implications. They could work together on common issues of regional concern (such as trafficking, drugs and women in situations of conflict).

References

OECD/DAC Expert Group on Women in Development (1996). Implications of the Fourth United Nations Conference on Women in Beijing for Development Co-operation in South Asia. Regional Seminar, Madras 23-25 April 1996. Summary Report produced by ODA for the Expert Group.

Resistance

Discussion

Background

Building more equal gender relations is a slow process. There is a need to understand and come to terms with the numerous forms of resistance that are mobilised against change. Resistance can be conscious or unconscious, it can take place at various levels (personal and bureaucratic) and can come from women as well as men.

Forms of Resistance

As part of the effort to deal with different forms of resistance and develop ways to overcome them, Sara Longwe (1990, 1995) started the process of identifying specific resistance strategies. This list of strategies builds on her work.

Denial	This strategy can be used at different levels. For example, at a broad level people argue that gender equality is not a concern for their country (or region, or community). Or the denial might be more limited, saying that a particular programme does not discriminate against women.
Selection of a Token Action	The users of this strategy acknowledge that something should be done about equality issues but they are unwilling to think about significant change. So they select a specific project (or component within a project). This project is often based on a limited assessment of gender disparities and may view women as a 'vulnerable group'. Thus when asked about what they are doing on gender equality issues, people point to this specific project to demonstrate that they are doing "something". In reality, however, equality has not been taken up in a serious fashion.
Lip Service	This familiar strategy involves acknowledging the issue at the level of rhetoric, but failing to take meaningful action.
Commissioning a Study	Instead of action, the users of this strategy hope to delay decisions by setting up a study to provide more information. They often hope that the issue will have gone away by the time the study is completed.

Speaking on behalf of "Women"	With this strategy, the user assumes that women are a homogeneous group who have one position and one set of interests. One or two experiences are generalised into a broad statement intended to cover all women:
	"I met with a women's group yesterday and they told me that their primary concern was building a school for their children. Therefore this should be the major focus of our co-operation programme."
Shelving	With this strategy, action on equality issues is postponed or delayed pending a broader process or planning decisions.
	"Thank you for your comments. We are currently in the process of developing a master plan for development in this region. We will take this report into consideration, along with all the other reports on other important themes."
Compartmentalisation	Users of this strategy do not recognise equality issues as cross-cutting and delegate all actions to the person officially responsible for 'women's development'. This, in effect, turns a concern with equality into a sector.
Misconstrued Mainstreaming	In this case, mainstreaming as a strategy is misunderstood. Instead of a focus on equality between women and men as the goal of a mainstreaming strategy, the main emphasis is on the process of involving women, often in activities and programmes in which they have had little input. Officials argue that there are no specific programmes for women as women participate (or are welcome to participate) in all the activities of the programme.
	"Women in this region already work very hard - in agriculture and with their family responsibilities. It would be irresponsible of us to ask them to participate in more project activities."
Tokenism	One or two women are appointed to committees or invited to participate in a decision-making process. Women with little interest in gender equality issues may be selected for precisely that reason or even if a woman with a commitment to equality is invited to participate, she may carry little weight in the overall process.

Countering Resistance

In her work for UNICEF (1994), Longwe went on to discuss basic strategies to counter resistance:

Countering Denial	Present sound empirical evidence (statistics, oral histories, solid research) that documents gender disparities and discriminatory practices.
Countering Selection	Ensure that equality issues are given a high profile at all stages of the planning process (not just problem identification). Ask questions about the eventual impact and results of the initiative and who will benefit (which women and which men).
Countering Lip- Service	Push for systems that monitor and evaluate impacts on equality between women and men in all programmes.
Countering Investigatory Diversions	The need for further research can be acknowledged without postponing all action until the research has been completed. A pilot project could be developed to explore the issue and there are significant data bases and source of information that are currently not being used.
<i>Countering 'Speaking on behalf of all women'</i>	Look for research that has been done that attempts to analyse both women's common interests and diversity. Make the case that an understanding of each situation is required and urge the use of gender-sensitive participatory methods.
Countering Shelving	If this project is a priority, take it to another institution or another level in the system. Seek out allies who will argue on behalf of the project.
Countering Compartmentalisation	Push for overall attention to gender issues in programme planning, implementation and evaluation. Make a concrete case of how and why gender equality issues are relevant to the work of this specific ministry or in this specific project.
Countering Misconstrued Mainstreaming	Try to shift attention to the impact of the initiative and ask questions about who will benefit. Does the project widen gender disparities? Does it have the potential to contribute to more equal gender relations.
Countering Tokenism	Push for greater transparency of the decision-making process and, in general, more input into decisions by those affected by them. If you are the token woman, look for allies (both inside and outside the formal structure).

See Also

Mainstreaming as an institutional strategy Men Participatory approaches Policy evaporation

References

Longwe, Sara Hlupekile (1995). "The Evaporation of Policies for Women's Advancement" in Noeleen Heyzer (ed.) *A Commitment to the World's Women: Perspectives on Development for Beijing and Beyond.* New York: UNIFEM.

(1990). From Welfare to Empowerment: The Situation of Women in Development in Africa, a Post-UN Women's Decade Update and Future Directions. Working paper #204, Women in International Development, Michigan State University, March.

Morgan, Nicole (1988). *The Equality Game: Women in the Federal Public Service (1908-1987)*. Ottawa: Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women.

del Rosario, Virginia (1995). "Mainstreaming gender concerns: aspects of compliance, resistance and negotiation." *IDS Bulletin* 26(3): 102-109 (Special Issue: Getting Institutions Right for Women in Development).

Staudt, Kathleen (1990). "Gender politics in bureaucracy: theoretical issues in comparative perspective." in Kathleen Staudt (ed.) *Women, International Development and Politics. The Bureaucratic Mire.* Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

UNICEF (1994). Gender Equality & Women's Empowerment. (Training Package), June.

SECTION II

REFERENCES ONLY

Agency Evaluations of WID Strategies/Policies

OECD/DAC, 1994

Assessment of DAC Members' WID Policies and Programmes. Overall Report. Report prepared under the auspices of the DAC Expert Group on Evaluation by Johanna Schalkwyk. Based on three thematic studies:

Theme I. Review of the Integration of Gender Concerns in the Work of the DAC. Prepared by Ria Brouwers (ISSAS) for the Operations Review Unit (IOV) of the Directorate General for Development Cooperation of the Netherlands.

Theme II. Assessment of Policies and Organisational Measures in Women and Development Adopted by DAC Member Countries. Prepared by Rounaq Jahan, Columbia University, for the Directorate for Development Co-operation and Humanitarian Aid, Switzerland and the United States Agency for International Development.

Theme III. WID as a Cross-cutting Issue in Development Aid Evaluation. Prepared by Julia Paton, Marsters Associates, for the Canadian International Development Agency.

Canada, 1996.

WID/GE Performance Review. Performance Review Division, Canadian International Development Agency, March 1996.

Best Practices Study.

Survey of Southern Women.

Implementation of WID&GE and Follow-up to the 1992 WID Evaluation Study.

Methods on Impact Study.

Audit Component - Preliminary Survey

Canada, 1992.

Gender as a Cross-cutting Theme in Development Assistance -- An Evaluation of CIDA's WID policy and Activities, 1984-1992.

Audit and Evaluation Division, Canadian International Development Agency

Executive Summary, July 1993

Final Report, July 1993

Working papers:

- 1. WID Evaluation Phase II Report
- 2. Six WID Country Case Studies
- 3. WID Policies in Selected Development Agencies
- 4. CIDA's WID Training for its own Staff

Denmark, 1994

Evaluation Report. Evaluation of the Implementation of DANIDA's WID Policy. DANIDA, Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Volume I. Main Report (Synthesis) (Cowiconsult Development Associates)

Volume II. Desk Study (Nordic Consulting Group A/S Development Associates)

Volume III. Evaluation of Specific WID Projects -- Economic Theme

Volume IV. Evaluation of Specific WID Projects -- Institutional and Legal Theme

New Zealand, 1994

Integration of Women in Development in New Zealand's Official Development Assistance. A Preliminary Assessment. Appraisal, Evaluation and Analytical Support Unit, Development Co-operation Division, Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade.

Agriculture

Department for International Development Co-operation, Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Finland (1995). *Looking at Gender, Agriculture and Rural Development*. Helsinki.

Directorate Gender for International Co-operation, Ministry of Foreign Affairs (1989). *Women and Agriculture: Policy on an operational footing - main points and checklist*. Sector Paper, Women and Development, No. 1. The Netherlands.

Quisumbing, A.R., L.R. Brown, H. Sims Feldstein, L. Hadda, and C. Pena (1995). *Women: the key to food security.* Food Policy Report, IFPRI, Washington.

Hirschmann, David (1995). "Managing equity and gender in an agricultural programme in Malawi." *Public Administration and Development* 15:21-40.

Sida (1997). *Handbook for the Integration of a Gender Perspective in the Agricultural Sector*. Stockholm: Agriculture Division and the Gender Equality Unit. Prepared by Helen Thomas, Beth Woroniuk and Johanna Schalkwyk.

Whitehead, Ann and Helen Bloom (1992). "Agriculture." In Lise Østergaard (ed.) Gender and Development: A Practical Guide. London: Routledge.

Best Practices: Development Co-operation and Gender Equality

CIDA (1996). WID/GE Performance Review - Best Practices Study FINAL REPORT. Ottawa: Performance Review Division. Prepared by Goss Gilroy Inc. and Helen Trevor Thomas Consulting Limited.

Lexow, Janne, Knut Samset, Amanda Hammar, Rekha Bezbourah and Rasil Basu (1995). *Empowering Women: Thirteen Lessons from Thirteen Swedish-funded Projects*. SASDA (Secretariat for Analysis of Swedish Development Assistance). Working Paper No. 42. Stockholm.

Conflict and Conflict Resolution

BRIDGE (1996). "Issue 3: Conflict and development." *IDS BRIDGE Development and Gender in Brief, Quarterly Update.* Available on the Internet at http://www.ids.ac.uk/ids/publicat/gender.html

Bernards, Reena (1993). "Forging Across the Borders of Conflict: Women's Diplomacy," in Gay Young, Vidyamali Samarasinghe and Ken Kusterer (eds) *Women at the Centre: Development Issues and Practices for the 1990s.* West Hartford, CN: Kumarian Press.

Byrne, Bridget (1996). "Towards a Gendered Understanding of Conflict." *IDS Bulletin. Thematic Issue: War and Rural Development in Africa.* Vol 27, No. 3: 31-40.

_____ (1996a). *Gender, conflict and development - Volume I: Overview.* BRIDGE Report No. 34. Prepared at the request of the Netherlands' Special Programme on WID, Ministry of Foreign Affairs on a conference on gender, conflict and development of the Vrouwenberaad Ontwikkelingssamenwerking.

_____, Rachel Marcus and Tanya Powers-Stevens (1996). *Gender, conflict and development - Volume II: Case Studies (Cambodia, Rwanda, Kosovo, Algeria, Somalia, Guatemala and Eritrea).* BRIDGE Report No. 35. Prepared at the request of the Netherlands''s Special Programme on WID, Ministry of Foreign Affairs on a conference on gender, conflict and development of the Vrouwenberaad Ontwikkelingssamenwerking.

Enloe, Cynthia (1993). *The Morning After: Sexual Politics at the End of the Cold War*. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Sida (1997). *Overview: Gender Equality and Emergency Assistance/Conflict Resolution*. Stockholm: Division for Humanitarian Assistance and the Gender Equality Unit. Prepared by Beth Woroniuk, Johanna Schalkwyk and Helen Thomas.

United Nations Division for the Advancement of Women (1995). "The Role of Women in United Nations Peace-Keeping". *Women 2000.* December 1995 - No. 1/1995.

United Nations Division for the Advancement of Women and the International Peace Research Institute (Oslo) *Expert Group Meeting on Political Decision-Making and Conflict Resolution: The Impact of Gender Difference*. Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic, 7-11 October 1996. EGM/PRDC/1996/REP.1, 7 November 1996.

Vickers, Jeanne (1993). Women and War. London: Zed Books Ltd.

UNHCR (1995). Sexual Violence Against Refugees. Guidelines on Prevention and Response. Geneva: UNHCR.

Development Co-operation, Organisations and Gender Equality

[Berger, Marguerite] (1995). "Gender Equity and Changing Institutions" in *Women in the Americas: Bridging the Gender Gap.* Distributed by the Johns Hopkins University Press: Washington, DC

Buvini, Mayra, Catherine Gwin and Lisa M. Bates (eds) (1996). *Investing in Women. Progress and Prospects for the World Bank*. Washington: Overseas Development Council/International Council for Research on Women. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Himmelstrand, Karin (1989). "Can an aid bureaucracy empower women? The case of SIDA." *Issue. A Journal of Opinion.* XVII(2):37-43.

Kabeer, Naila and Tamya Subrahmanian (1996). *Institutions, Relations and Outcomes: Framework and Tools for Gender-Aware Planning*. Brighton: IDS Discussion Paper #357.

Lingen, Annet (1995). *WID Policies of CIDA, DANIDA, the Netherlands, the World Bank and the DAC.* SASDA (Secretariat for Analysis of Swedish Development Assistance), Working Paper No. 41. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Murphy, Josette (1995). Gender Issues in World Bank Lending. Washington: World Bank.

Razavi, Shahra and Carol Miller (1995). *Gender Mainstreaming. A Study of the Efforts by the UNDP, the World Bank and the ILO to Institutionalise Gender Issues.* Occasional Paper 4, Fourth World Conference on Women, UNRISD, Geneva. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Snyder, Margaret (1995). *Transforming Development: Women, Poverty and Politics*. London: Intermediate Technology Publications.

Snyder, Monteze; Fran Berry and Paul Mavima (1996). "Gender Policy in Development Assistance: Improving Implementation Results" *World Development* 24 (9): 1481-1496.

Woroniuk, Beth; Helen Thomas and Johanna Schalkwyk (1996). *Gender Equality Action Plans: A Think Piece*. Stockholm: Sida. [This contains an extensive bibliography]

Economic Policy-Making

Afshar, H. & C. Dennis (eds) (1992). Women and Adjustment Policies in the Third World. Basingstoke: Macmillan.

Agarwal, Bina (1994). "Gender and Command Over Property: A Critical Gap in Economic Analysis and Policy in South Asia," *World Development*. 22(10): 1455-1478.

Bakker, Isabel (ed) (1994). *The Strategic Silence: Gender and Economic Policy*. London: ZED Books in association with the North-South Institute.

Benería, Lourdes & Shelley Feldman (eds) (1992). Unequal Burden: Economic Crises, Persistent Poverty, and Women's Work. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press.

Benería, Lourdes (1992). "Accounting for Women's Work: The Progress of Two Decades," *World Development* 20 (11): 1547-60.

Elson, Diane (ed.) (1995). *Male Bias in the Development Process*. (Second Edition) Manchester: Manchester University Press.

_____ (1993). "Gender-Aware Analysis and Development Economics," *Journal of International Development* 5(2): 237-247.

_____ (1992). "From Survival Strategies to Transformation Strategies: Women's Needs and Structural Adjustment," in Benería & Feldman, *Unequal Burden*. pp. 26 - 48.

Heyzer, Noeleen and Gita Sen (1994). *Gender, Economic Growth and Poverty: Market Growth and State Planning in Asia and the Pacific.* Kuala Lumpur: Asian and Pacific Development Centre.

Moser, Carolyn O.N. (1996). *Confronting Crisis: A Comparative Study of Household Responses to Poverty and Vulnerability in Four Poor Urban Communities.* Environmentally Sustainable Development Studies and Monographs Series No. 8. Washington DC: The World Bank.

Sparr, Pamela (ed.) (1994). Mortgaging Women's Lives: Feminist Critiques of Structural Adjustment. London: ZED Books Ltd.

Vickers, Jeanne (1991). Women and the World Economic Crisis. London: Zed Press.

World Development (1995) 23(11) Special Edition on Gender, Adjustment and Macroeconomics.

Waring, Marilyn (1989). If Women Counted: A New Feminist Economics. New York: HarperCollins.

Education

Bellew, Rosemary T. and Elizabeth M. King (1993). "Educating women: lessons from experience." in Elizabeth M. King and M. Anne Hill (eds.), *Women's Education in Developing Countries: Barriers, Benefits and Policies.* Washington, DC: published by Johns Hopkins University Press for the World Bank.

Hertz, Barbara, K. Subbarao and Laura Raney (1991). *Letting Girls Learn: Promising Approaches in Primary and Secondary Education*. Discussion Paper No.133. Washington, DC: World Bank.

IWRAW (International Women's Rights Action Watch) (1993). *Education for Participation. A Resource Guide on Women's Education and Participation in Public Life*. University of Minnesota, Hubert H. Humphrey Institute of Public Affairs. [Available from IWRAW, Humphrey Institute, 301-19th Avenue South, Minneapolis, Minnesota, 55455, USA.]

Jongepeir, Maaike and Marguérite Appel (1995). "A critical review of education and training." In *Advancing women's status: women and men together?* Critical Review and Annotated bibliographies Series, Royal Tropical Institute (KIT), Amsterdam, The Netherlands. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Mbilinyi, Marjorie and Patricia Mbughuni (eds) (1991). *Education in Tanzania with a Gender Perspective. Summary Report.* Sida, Education Division Documents No. 53.

Stromquist, Nelly P. (1994). *Gender and Basic Education in International Development Co-operation*. UNICEF Staff Working Papers Number 13, UNICEF, New York.

Environmental Sustainability

Bell, Judith Kjellberg (1992). "Women, Environment and Urbanization in a Third World Context: A Guide to the Literature," *Women & Environment* 13(2) Spring.

Braidotti, Rosi, Ewa Charkiewicz, Sabine Häusler and Saskia Wieringa (1994). *Women, the Environment and Sustainable Development: Towards a Theoretical Synthesis.* ZED Books (in association with INSTRAW).

Green, Cathy (1994). *Poverty, Population and Environment: Does 'Synergism' Work for Women?* Brighton: Institute of Development Studies Discussion Paper #343.

Harcourt, Wendy (ed) (1994). *Feminist Perspectives on Sustainable Development*. London: ZED Books Ltd. in association with the Society for International Development (Rome).

IDS (1995). "New thinking on gender and the environment." IDS Policy Briefing Issue 5. Available on the Internet at: http://www.ids.ac.uk/ids/publicat/briefs.html

Jackson, Cecile (1993). "Doing What Comes Naturally? Women and Environment in Development" *World Development* 21(12): 1947-1963.

_____ (1993a). "Environmentalism and Gender Interests in the Third World," *Development and Change*. 24(4): 649-677.

_____ (1993b). "Questioning synergisms: win-win with women in population and environment policies?" *Journal of International Development* 5(6): 651-668.

Joekes, Susan; Cathy Green and Melissa Leach (1996). *Integrating Gender into Environmental Research and Policy*. Brighton: IDS Working Paper 27.

Leach, Melissa 1992). "Gender and the environment: traps and opportunities." *Development in Practice* 2(1): 12-22.

Mies, Maria & Vandana Shiva (1993). Ecofeminism. London: ZED Books.

Sontheimer, Sally (ed) (1991). Women and the Environment: A Reader -- Crisis and Development in the Third World. London: Earthscan Publications.

Swedish International Development Authority (1992). *Gender, environment and development: Some interlinkages.* (A report from a seminar held in Stockholm, 15th October 1991, as part of preparations for the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED) Brazil 1992) Stockholm: Swedish International Development Authority.

Warren, Sarah T. (ed) (1992). Gender and Environment: Lessons from Social Forestry and Natural Resource Management - A Source Book. Toronto: Aga Khan Foundation Canada.

Gender Statistics

Methodologies

Evans, Allison (1992). "Statistics," in Lise Østergaard (ed.) *Gender and Development: A Practical Guide*. London: Routledge.

BRIDGE (1994). Annotated bibliography on statistical methodologies for the collection, analysis and presentation of gender-disaggregated data. Briefing prepared for the British Council Regional Office for West Africa. BRIDGE Bibliography No. 8. Brighton: IDS.

FAO (1992). Improving gender disaggregated data on human resources through agricultural censuses. Rome: FAO.

Hedman, Birgitta Hedman, Francesca Perucci and Pehr Sundström (1996). *Engendering Statistics. A Tool for Change*. Stockholm: Statistics Sweden. [To order: Statistics Sweden, Publication Services, S-701 89, Orebro, Sweden.]

United Nations (1996). *Handbook for Producing National Statistical Reports on Women and Men.* New York: United Nations.

United Nations Development Programme 1995). "Measuring gender inequality." In *Human Development Report 1995*, pp. 72-86.

Compilations

Sivard, Ruth (1995). Women: A World Survey. World Priorities. [Available from Women, Ink.]

United Nations (1995). *WISTAT: Women's Indicators and Statistics Database*. United Nations Publications, Version 3, CD-ROM. [Available from Women, Ink.]

United Nations (1996). The World's Women 1970-1995: Trends and Statistics. New York: United Nations.

United Nations Development Programme (1995). *Human Development Report 1995*. New York, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Valdes, Teresa, Enrique Gomariz et. al. (1995) Latin American Women. Compared figures. Madrid, Spain: Instituto de la Mujer, Ministerio de Asuntos Sociales de España. [Also in Spanish as Mujeres Latinoamericanas en Cifras. Tomo Comparativo.]

References to Gender Statistics in the Beijing Platform for Action

Paragraphs 209-212 of the *Platform for Action* detail the actions to be taken by national governments, the United Nations and development co-operation agencies in support of the overall strategic objective to: "Generate and disseminate gender-disaggregated data and information for planning and evaluations."

Other elements of the PFA are concerned with specific needs in relation to the development of methodologies, data collection and analysis:

para. 69, 70	methodologies and research in relation to poverty
para. 130	violence against women
para. 167	work and employment
para. 192, 195	participation in decision-making

Health

Corrêa, Sonia and Rebecca Reichmann (1994). *Population and Reproductive rights. Feminist Perspectives from the South.* London: Zed Books in association with DAWN.

Desjarlais, Robert, Leon Eisenberg, Byron Good and Arthur Kleinman (1995). "Women." In Robert Desjarlais *et. al. World Mental Health. Problems and Priorities in Low-Income Countries.* New York and Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Erdström, Jerker (1992). "Indicators for women's health in developing countries: what they reveal and what they conceal." *IDS Bulletin* 23(1): 38-49 (Special Issue: Gender and Primary Health Care: Some Forward Looking Strategies).

Germain, Adrienne (1995). "Ensuring women's sexual and reproductive health and rights." In Noeleen Heyzer (ed.), *A Commitment to the World's Women. Perspectives on Development for Beijing and Beyond.* New York: UNIFEM. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Global Commission on Women's Health (1994). *Women's Health. Towards a Better World.* Report of the first Meeting of the global commission on Women's Health, April 1994. Geneva: WHO.

Gordon, Gill and Charlotte Kanstrup (1992). "Sexuality -- the missing link in women's health." *IDS Bulletin* 23(1): 29-37 (Special Issue: Gender and Primary Health Care: Some Forward Looking Strategies).

Hamblin, Julie and Elizabeth Reid (1991). "Women, the HIV epidemic and human rights: a tragic imperative." UNDP, HIV and Development Programme, Issues Paper #8. Available on the Internet at http://www.undp.org/hiv/ip8.htm.

Hardon, Anita (1995). "A critical review of sexual and reproductive health." In *Advancing women's status: women and men together?* Critical Review and Annotated Bibliographies Series, Royal Tropical Institute (KIT), Amsterdam, The Netherlands. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Leslie, Joanne (1992). "Women's time and the use of health services." *IDS Bulletin* 23(1):4-7 (Special Issue: Gender and Primary Health Care: Some Forward Looking Strategies).

Koblinsky, Marge, Judith Timyan and Jill Gay (eds.) (1993). *The Health of Women: A Global Perspective*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Østergaard, Lise (1992). "Health." in Lise Østergaard (ed.) *Gender and Development: A Practical Guide*. London: Routledge.

Raikes, Alanagh (1992). "Gender and the production of health care services: issues for women's roles in health and development." *IDS Bulletin* 23(1): 19-28 (Special Issue: Gender and Primary Health Care: Some Forward Looking Strategies).

Sida (1996). "Love and Violence". Sida Guidelines for Promotion of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in International Development. Stockholm: Health Division, Sida.

Sida (1996). *Handbook for the Integration of a Gender Perspective in the Health Sector*. Stockholm: Health Division and Gender Equality Unit. Prepared by Johanna Schalkwyk, Beth Woroniuk and Helen Thomas.

Sida Working Group on Gender and Health (February 1995). *Health, Gender and Development: Background, Prominent Issues and the Need for Action.* Gender Discussion Paper Series No. 4, Development Studies Unit, Department of Social Anthropology, Stockholm University

Welbourn, Alice (1992). "Rapid rural appraisal, gender and health -- alternative ways of listening to needs." *IDS Bulletin* 23(1): 8-18 (Special Issue: Gender and Primary Health Care: Some Forward-Looking Strategies).

World Bank (1994). A New Agenda for Women's Health and Nutrition. Development in Practice Series. Washington, DC: World Bank.

World Health Organization (WHO) (1992). Women's Health: Across Age and Frontier. Geneva: WHO.

Human Rights

Afkhami, Mahnaz (ed.) (1995). Faith and Freedom. *Women's Human Rights in the Muslim World*. London and New York: I.B. Tauris Publishers. [Available from Women, Ink.]

Alfredsson, Gudmundur and Katarina Tomaševski (1995). A Thematic Guide to Documents on the Human Rights of Women. Stockholm: The Raoul Wallenberg Institute Human Rights Guides, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers.

Ashworth, Georgina (1992). "Women and human rights". Prepared as a background paper for the OECD/DAC Expert Group on Women in Development, Annual Meeting, May 1992.

Kerr, Joanna (ed.) (1993). *Ours by Right. Women's Rights as Human Rights*. London: Zed Books in association with the North-South Institute.

Tomaševski, Katarina (1993). Women and Human Rights. London: Zed Books and the United Nations Non-Governmental Liaison Service.

Social Development

Overseas Development Administration (nd). A Guide to Social Analysis for Projects in Developing Countries. London.

Participatory Development, Democracy and Good Governancet

Carillo, Roxanna (1992). Battered Dreams: Violence Against Women as an Obstacle to Development. New York: UNIFEM.

D'Amico, Francine and Peter R. Beckman (1995). *Women in World Politics: An Introduction*. Westport, CN: Bergin & Garvey.

Hirschmann, David (1995). "Democracy, gender and US foreign assistance: guidelines and lessons." *World Development* 23(8): 1291-1302.

(1993). *Democracy and Gender: A Practical Guide to USAID Programmes*. Genesys Special Study #9. United States Agency for International Development, Office of Women in Development.

Nzomo, Maria (1993). "The gender dimensions of democratisation in Kenya: some international linkages." *Alternatives* 18: 61-73.

OECD/DAC Expert Group on Women in Development (1994). "Gender matters in participatory development and good governance." DAC/DAC/WID(94)6

Rathgeber, Eva M. (1992). Women's Legal Rights in the 90s: An Umbrella Project to Support National Capacity Building. Prepared for the DAC/WID Expert Group Meeting, Paris 18-21 May.

Weekes-Vagliani, Winifred (1994). *Participatory Development and Gender: Articulating Concepts and Cases*. OECD Development Centre Technical Papers No. 95. Produced as part of the research programme on The Human Factor in Development. February.

Waylen, Georgina (1994). "Women and Democratisation: Conceptualising Gender Relations in Transition Politics," *World Politics* 46(April): 327-354.

UN Conferences

DAWN (1995). "Rethinking social development: DAWN's vision." *World Development* 23(11): 2001-2004.

Bunch, Charlotte (1995). "Women's human rights and development: a global agenda for the 21st century." In Noeleen Heyzer (ed.), *A Commitment to the World's Women. Perspectives on Development for Beijing and Beyond.* New York: UNIFEM. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Heyzer, Noeleen (ed.) (1995). A Commitment to the World's Women. Perspectives on Development for Beijing and Beyond. New York: UNIFEM. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Sen, Gita and Carmen Barroso (1995). "After Cairo: Challenges to women's organisations." In Noeleen Heyzer (ed.), A Commitment to the World's Women. Perspectives on Development for Beijing and Beyond. New York: UNIFEM. [Available through Women, Ink.]

Vajrathon, Mallica (1996). "Beijing '95 United Nations Fourth World Conference on Women," *Development* (Journal of SID). 1996(3): 70-78.

International Conventions and UN Conferences

Fourth World Conference on Women (Beijing) 1995 [Platform for Action adopted]

World Summit for Social Development (Copenhagen) 1995 [commitment to ensuring full equality]

International Conference on Population and Development (Cairo) 1994 [empowerment of women seen as an integral part of development]

World Conference on Human Rights (Vienna) 1993 [violence against women and other women's human rights issues integrated into overall UN human rights agenda and activities]

Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Women adopted by the UN General Assembly 1993

UN Conference for Environment and Development (UNCED) (Rio de Janeiro) 1992 [recognises women's key role in the preservation and management of the environment]

Third World Conference on Women (Nairobi) 1985 [adoption of the Nairobi forward-Looking Strategies for the Advancement of Women to the Year 2000]

Second World Conference on Women (Copenhagen) 1980

Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) adopted by the UN General Assembly 1979

International Women's Year Tribune (Mexico City) 1975 [proclaims first Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace]

Water Resources Management

Cecelski, Elizabeth W. (1991). "Practical Strategies and Approaches to Addressing Gender Issues at Planning Stages in the Energy and Water Sectors: Lessons from International Experience". Paper presented at the Seminar/Training Workshop on Women in Water and Energy Development in Nepal, Water and Energy Commission Secretariat (WECS), Institutional Support Project (WISP), 17-22 November 1991. Kathmandu, Nepal.

CIDA (1992). Women, Water and Sanitation. A Guide to the Main Issues and Existing Resources. Prepared by Hilary Syme.

Directorate General for International Co-operation, Ministry of Foreign Affairs (1989). Women, Water and Sanitation Policy on an Operational Footing: Main Points and Checklist. Sector Papers Women and Development No.2, The Netherlands.

FINNIDA (1994). Looking at Gender: Water Supply and Sanitation. Helsinki.

Green, Cathy and Sally Baden (1995). "Integrated water resources management: a gender perspective." *IDS Bulletin* 26(1)

Hannan-Andersson, Carolyn (1995). A gender perspective on water resources management. Prepared for INSTRAW/DDSMS Special Event on Women and Natural Resources Management held in connection with the Fourth World Conference on Women, Beijing.

International Women's Tribune Centre (1990). Women and Water: A collection of IWTC newsletters on Issues, Activities and Resources in the Area of Women, Water and Sanitation Needs. USA, IWTC.

IRC International Water and Sanitation Centre (1994). *Together for Water and Sanitation Tools to Apply to a Gender Approach. The Asian Experience.* Edited by Eveline Bolt. IRC International Water and Sanitation Centre, The Hague, The Netherlands.

_____ (1994). Working with Women and Men on Water and Sanitation: An African Field Guide. IRC International Water and Sanitation Centre, The Hague, The Netherlands.

Melchior, Siri (1989). Women, Water and Sanitation--or Counting Tomatoes Instead of Pumps. USA, PROWWESS/UNDP.

Ministry of Education, Guidance and Counselling Division (1994). A Teacher's Guide to Work with Water. Published by the Government of Botswana. Gabarone, Botswana.

_____ (1994). Work With Water. A Guide to Careers with Water, Waste Water and Environmental *Protection*. Government of Botswana. Gabarone, Botswana.

Narayan, Deepa (1993). *Focus on Participation: Evidence from 121 Rural Water Supply Projects.* UNDP-World Bank Water Supply and Sanitation Program, TWUWS, and Social Policy and Resettlement Division, World Bank, Washington, D. C.

Read, Goeffrey and Ayse Kudat. (1992) "Why a Women in Development Component Should Be Part of a Rural Water Project and What Such a Component Should Comprise: The Case of Sindh, Pakistan" *Infrastructure Notes*, W & S No. WS-8, Infrastructure and Urban Development Department, The World Bank.

Sida (1997). Handbook for the integration of a Gender Perspective in the Water Resources Management Sector. Stockholm: Department for Natural Resources and the Environment and the Gender Equality Unit. Prepared by Helen Thomas, Johanna Schalkwyk and Beth Woroniuk.

SIDA (1994). Workshop on Gender and Water Resources Management: Lessons learned and Strategies for the Future. (Volume I: Report from the Workshop) (Volume II: Papers presented at the Workshop). Seminar held in Stockholm, 1-3 December 1993.

UNDP/World Bank (1993). *Gender Issues Sourcebook for the Water and Sanitation Sector*. Prepared by Wendy Wakeman [Working Group on Gender issues of the Water and Sanitation Collaborative Council.] June.

United Nations International Research and Training Institute for the Advancement of Women (INSTRAW) (1993). *Report of the Interregional Workshop on Women, Water Supply and Sanitation*. From Seminar in Bangkok, 21-25 September 1992. Santo Domingo, INSTRAW.

Zwarteveen, Margriet (1994) Gender Issues, Water Issues. A Gender Perspective to Irrigation Management. Colombo, Sri Lanka: International Irrigation Management Institute (IIMI), Working paper 32.

Women's Movement (International)

Afshar, Haleh (ed.) (1991). Women: Development & Survival in the Third World. Burnt Mill, Harlow, Essex: Longman Group UK Limited.

Bystydzienski, Jill (ed.) (1992). Women Transforming Politics: Worldwide Strategies for Empowerment. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Jaquette, Jane S. (ed.) (1994). *The Women's Movement in Latin America: Participation and Democracy*. (2nd edition) Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Mohanty, Chandra Talpade; Ann Russo and Lourdes Torres (eds.) (1991). *Third World Women and the Politics of Feminism*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Rowbothan, Sheila and Swasti Mitter (eds.) (1994). Dignity and Daily Bread: New Forms of Economic Organising among Poor Women in the Third World and the First. London: Routledge.

Wieringa, Saskia (ed.) (1995). Subversive Women: Women's Movements in Africa, Asia, Latin America and the Caribbean. London: Zed Books and Kali for Women.